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Athabasca is a dynamic energy company poised to unlock bitumen from 
Canada’s vast oil sands region and light oil from its Deep Basin play in  
northern Alberta. It has excellent assets, a large resource base with ample 
upside, talented people and is well financed. In four years, it amassed a land  
base of 2.5 million acres (net) and delineated more than 12 billion barrels  
(gross) of contingent resource (best estimate) of which it holds 8.8 billion 
barrels. It has a diverse portfolio of short, mid and long-term assets. 
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BARRELS OF  
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Athabasca celebrated an outstanding year in 2010. 

In February, a wholly-owned subsidiary of PetroChina International Investment Company Limited, 
Cretaceous Oilsands Holdings Limited (“Cretaceous”), paid $1.9 billion cash for a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company that owned 60% of the MacKay River and Dover projects. In April, Athabasca completed 
its Initial Public Offering (IPO) and raised $1.35 billion (gross) by issuing 75 million common shares. The 
Company was listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) under the trading symbol ATH. 

In June, Athabasca announced it had company interest resource volumes of approximately 8.6 billion 
barrels of contingent resource (best estimate) and 114 million barrels of probable reserves which 
represented a 20% increase in contingent resources over third-party estimates at December 31, 2009. 

In September, the Company made an offer to acquire all of Excelsior Energy Limited’s issued and  
outstanding shares and warrants. The deal closed in November. This transaction enabled Athabasca to 
announce an accelerated multi-phase bitumen development at Hangingstone.

The Company accelerated its planned production at Dover West in December and Dover Operating Corp. 
filed the regulatory application for the Dover commercial oil sands project. 

During the second half of the year, Athabasca purchased approximately 1.0 million acres to explore for 
and develop tight oil in Alberta’s Deep Basin.

2010 A YEAR OF GROWTH

AT H A B A S C A  O I L  S A N D S  C O R P.
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Forward Looking Advisory

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report constitute forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical fact are 
forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results or events to differ materially 
from those anticipated. No assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking statements included in this 
Annual Report should not be unduly relied upon. These statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. Information and statements in this  
Annual Report relating to “reserves” and “resources” are deemed to be forward-looking information and statements, as they are based on certain estimates 
and assumptions. Please see the “Forward Looking Information” advisory in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) at page 43 of this Annual 
Report and the “Forward Looking Statements” advisory in the Company’s Annual Information Form (AIF) dated March 28, 2011, which is available at  
www.sedar.com. The risks and uncertainties referred to above are described in more detail in the Company’s MD&A and AIF. The Company does not undertake 
any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements except as required by applicable securities laws.

2010 MILESTONES
JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

FEB 10
closed $1.9 billion 
joint venture

JUN 9
announced 20% 
increase in resources

DEC 31
had acquired ~1 million 

acres of P&NG leases

NOV 29
accelerated Hangingstone 

& Dover West
APR 8
completed 
$1.35 billion IPO

DEC 21
filed Dover regulatory application

SEP 13
offered to purchase 

Excelsior Energy



$1.9 Billion
DOVER &  

MACKAY RIVER JOINT 
VENTURE PROCEEDS

20% 
INCREASE IN  

CONTINGENT  
RESOURCES

$1.35 Billion
GROSS  

PROCEEDS
FROM IPO
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 Athabasca expects to achieve a number of milestones in 2011. 

Q1  Drill ~120 core-hole and water wells plus the steam and TAGD(1) test wells 
 File the Hangingstone 12,000 barrels/day SAGD(2) demonstration project   

Q2  Anticipate winter delineation results may boost contingent resources 

Q3  First results from steam and TAGD Dover West Leduc tests 
 Frac and complete six wells in Deep Basin

Q4  Submit the Dover West clastics and Leduc project applications 
 Receive regulatory approval for MacKay River commercial oil sands project 
 

(1) . TAGD .is .thermal .assisted .gravity .drainage

(2) . SAGD .is .steam .assisted .gravity .drainage

2011 AND BEYOND
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2011 20122010 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 20212020

THE FUTURE

HANGINGSTONE 

DOVER WEST CLASTICS

DOVER WEST LEDUC CARBONATES

BIRCH

GROSMONT

Phase 1 (12,000 bbls/d)

Phase 1 (12,000 bbls/d)

Test Scheme (2 heating wells)

Commercial Continuous Development

Pilot (1) (<12,000 bbls/d)

TBD

TBD

Phase 3 (25,000-40,000 bbls/d)

Phase 2 (25,000-40,000 bbls/d)

Phase 2 (25,000 bbls/d)

Phase 3 (35,000-50,000 bbls/d)

Regulatory application phase. This reflects the review process by ERCB and Alberta Environment. No Environmental Impact Assessment required for 
<12,000 bbls/d. A single application is anticipated per project for subsequent phases after the initial 12,000 bbls/d.

Development phase. Road construction, site clearing, facility construction and drilling is expected to take 2.5 years for each commerical phase.

First steam/heating (earliest date, could be up to six months later).

(1) The Dover West Leduc pilot project is estimated to be less than 12,000 bbls/d in size and will not require an environmental impact assessment. 
Therefore, a 12-month approval process has been assumed.
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Message froM 

The President
The team at Athabasca has a goal to unlock oil prospects 
and continue to create significant value for its shareholders. 
The Company is fortunate to have six in-situ bitumen assets 
and more than one million acres of light oil and liquid rich 
gas prospects. It has hand-picked, talented employees and 
had $1.8 billion in working capital at December 31, 2010.  
This gives Athabasca a competitive edge as it moves to 
develop its first projects.

After the tumultuous financial collapse and drop in oil price in  
2008 - 2009, Statistics Canada reported the country’s GDP  
(gross domestic product) had posted its seventh consecutive monthly 
gain in early 2010, signaling the country’s economy was regaining 
strength. By this time, light oil had climbed back to the $80/barrel 
range and inflation was holding in the 2.0% range.

Financial uncertainty was the biggest risk Athabasca faced to develop 
its capital intensive in-situ oil sands projects. As the Canadian dollar 
continued to strengthen and oil prices remained firm, the timing was 
excellent for the Company to raise money. 

signed JoinT VenTure agreeMenT
Athabasca had signaled it would look globally for joint venture 
arrangements to help finance some of its mega-project developments. 
The Company also wanted a partner with world-class technical 
expertise, market savvy and international mid and downstream 
experience.

On February 10, 2010, Athabasca completed a joint venture with 
Cretaceous, a wholly owned subsidiary of PetroChina, which paid  
$1.9 billion cash to acquire a subsidiary that held a 60% working 
interest in the MacKay River and Dover commercial oil sands projects. 

Not only did this successful joint venture effort confirm the quality of 
Athabasca’s assets, but even better, it helped de-risk the Company’s 
entire portfolio of six large bitumen properties. 

Consistent with Athabasca’s objective to maximize value to its 
shareholders, in March, 2010 the Company paid a special dividend 
of $1.3 billion to shareholders, after the Cretaceous transaction  
was concluded. 

Launched iPo
The next exciting step was to launch the initial public offering, which 
was the largest energy IPO in Canadian history. The Company hoped  
to raise $750 million and ended up increasing the size of the offering  
by 80% to $1.35 billion at $18/share. The over-subscription indicated 
the market’s outlook on the viability and profitability of oil and 
especially oil sands projects.

The IPO closed on April 8, 2010 and the Company began trading on 
the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol ATH.

Unfortunately, also in April, the European financial markets tumbled 
when Greece defaulted on its loans, creating jittery market conditions 
on stock exchanges around the world. The short-term investors in 
the stock sold, leaving a large, strong core of long-term investors who 

aThabasca is buLLish on oiL Prices and The coMPany’s 
econoMics are robusT eVen aT conserVaTiVe Prices. We  
beLieVe There are Many synergies beTWeen The in-siTu  
biTuMen ProJecTs and The deeP basin TighT oiL PLay ThaT WiLL 
driVe neW LeVeLs of exceLLence ThroughouT The coMPany.
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believed in management’s strategy, its development plans and that 
the team of exceptional employees could deliver bitumen exploration 
and development projects on-time and on-budget.

There were 200 million shares in lock-up until October 6, 2010, all  
held by directors and officers of the Company and a small number 
of original investors. Although many speculated these would be 
immediately sold post lock-up, the Company was confident these 
shareholders understood that investing in oil sands was like a marathon. 
Much to the regret of some who wanted to buy at depressed rates,  
the share price held and has steadily increased in value since. 

neW conVenTionaL LighT oiL  
and LiQuids-rich gas resource PLays
Athabasca is bullish on oil prices and acquired approximately  
1.0 million acres of petroleum and natural gas (P&NG) rights for 
less than $100 million (about $100/acre) in the Deep Basin area of 
northwestern Alberta during 2010. The plan is to invest some of the 
Company’s $1.8 billion in working capital (as of December 31, 2010)  
to drill six to eight wells. If successful, production of the light oil 
and liquids-rich gas would produce cash flow to reinvest into the  
oil sands operations.

The Deep Basin has numerous geological formations which are 
promising candidates for large scale production of light oil. Six wells 
have been budgeted for 2011. However, based on the results of 
Athabasca’s technical work and many encouraging wells being drilled 
by others in the area, it is likely that the Company will significantly 
increase this number. Athabasca’s team has mapped numerous 
prospective formations which could lead to several thousand 
drilling locations if the results from the current program meet  
management’s expectations.

subMiTTed coMMerciaL aPPLicaTions
The first application for the MacKay River commercial oil sands 
project was submitted in December 2009 for all phases with a 
peak production of approximately 150,000 barrels/day (gross). In 
December, 2010, Dover Operating Corp. (Dover OPCO) submitted 
an application to the regulatory authorities for a SAGD project at 

Dover, with peak production rates estimated at 250,000 barrels/day 
(gross). They estimate a 24-month window for the Energy Resources 
Conservation Board (ERCB) and Alberta Environment to conduct 
the necessary reviews on each application. The first phase of Dover 
targets approximately 50,000 barrels/day (gross).

Athabasca seconded 31 employees to Dover OPCO to handle the 
regulatory applications and provide the technical support to launch 
the projects. Don Verdonck was promoted as Dover’s Chief Operating 
Officer, Bob Bruce became its Vice President, Corporate Development 
and Laura Sullivan was promoted to its Vice President, Geoscience, 
Technology and Reservoir. 

greW resource 20%
During the winter of 2009-2010, Athabasca had a successful drilling 
and coring program that included 12 wells in the Dover West area 
(100%), 52 wells in the Dover area (40%) and four wells in the 
Grosmont area (50%). 

On June 9, 2010, the Company announced it had 8.6 billion barrels 
of contingent resource (best estimate) and 114 million barrels of 
probable reserves, based on resource evaluations by GLJ Petroleum 
Consultants Ltd. and DeGolyer and MacNaughton Canada Limited. 
This represented a 20% increase in total resources over the previous 
December 31, 2009 estimates by these evaluators.

ProMoTed execuTiVes
Last summer and fall, the company embarked on a hiring campaign  
to fill the technical and management positions the secondees to  
Dover OPCO had vacated. In addition, Anne Schenkenberger was 
promoted to Vice President, Legal and Corporate Secretary and 
Bryan Gould to Vice President, Corporate Development. Rob Harding 
remained as Vice President, Finance and CFO and Ian Atkinson as Vice 
President, Geoscience, Technology and Reservoir. Heather Douglas 
was hired as Vice President, Communications & External Affairs.

By year-end, Athabasca had 106 hand-picked employees and 
consultants (including the secondees to Dover OPCO). The Company 
is pleased to have qualified people whose combined experience  
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covers the development, construction & management of most other 
SAGD projects in Canada. They will help the Company avoid the 
plethora of challenges other bitumen operators have faced.

The Company also hired 10 professionals with outstanding credentials 
and specific knowledge from both conventional and unconventional 
exploration and production in the Western Canadian Sedimentary 
Basin. Their experience in horizontal drilling and multi-stage fracturing 
technology is second to none and this group is dedicated to run our 
Deep Basin operations.

reached criTicaL siZe aT hangingsTone
Athabasca had told shareholders it would either negotiate a joint 
venture or make an acquisition to bring its Hangingstone property to 
a world-class size. In September, the Company reached an agreement 
to acquire Excelsior Energy Limited, which owned a contiguous block 
at Hangingstone. Upon closing of the deal in November, the Company 
announced the acceleration of development at Hangingstone. 
Athabasca filed the application for a 12,000 barrels/day first phase  
on March 31, 2011, ahead of schedule.

acceLeraTed doVer WesT
Athabasca was pleased to announce in November 2010 the 
acceleration of development at the Dover West, containing 
approximately 2.0 billion barrels of contingent resources (best 
estimate) in the Cretaceous oil sands and approximately 2.7 billion 
barrels of contingent resources (best estimate) in the Leduc carbonate 
rock of Devonian age. 

Athabasca plans to submit a regulatory application during the 
second half of 2011 for a demonstration SAGD project of up to  
12,000 barrels/day and first steam possibly as early as year-end 2014. 
It expects that subsequent phases may be sized between 25,000 and 
35,000 barrels/day.

Looking forWard
Athabasca’s other contingent resource properties - Birch (100%) 
and Grosmont (50%) - both create opportunities for joint ventures 
with companies that can afford large expenditures, have the technical 

expertise to create even better projects and can help accelerate 
commercial development. Company executives continue to talk with 
potential joint venture companies to further de-risk Athabasca’s 
undeveloped barrels of bitumen. These global companies look for 
large contiguous blocks of land containing one to three billion barrels 
of contingent resources (best estimate).

The Company enjoys important synergies from the operations 
of its oil sands assets – Dover OPCO, Hangingstone and Dover 
West – and those of the Deep Basin team. The shared services of 
drilling, geoscience and the corporate departments all strive to be  
best-in-class to support the operations teams.

Alberta is a wonderful place in which to do business. The regulatory 
process is fair, the country has a stable political regime and Albertans 
are used to oil and gas activities. As new technologies develop, 
companies can produce more and more bitumen, oil and gas from the 
Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin.

In conclusion, Athabasca continues to deliver on its promises. It offers 
investors high leverage to oil prices because of its large resource 
base and long life assets. The employees and management expect 
to continue unlocking more bitumen and light oil resources in 2011  
and onwards.

Sveinung Svarte 
President & CEO 
March 31, 2011

aLberTa is a WonderfuL PLace in Which To do business. The reguLaTory 
Process is fair, The counTry has a sTabLe PoLiTicaL regiMe and aLberTans 
are used To oiL and gas acTiViTies. as neW TechnoLogies deVeLoP, 
coMPanies can Produce More and More biTuMen, oiL and gas froM  
The WesTern canadian sediMenTary basin.
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suMMary of 

operations

GROSMONT
JOINT VENTURE

DOVER

MACKAY
RIVER

BIRCH

HANGINGSTONE

DOVER
WEST

GROSMONT
JOINT VENTURE

DOVER

MACKAY
RIVER

BIRCH

HANGINGSTONE

DOVER
WEST

birch (100%)
Potential for 88,000(1) bbls/d production
Contingent resource(2) 1.2 billion bbls

doVer/Mackay riVer (40%) 
Potential for 160,000(1) bbls/d (net)
Contingent resource(2) (net):  
 0.6 billion bbls (MacKay River)
 1.2 billion bbls (Dover)

grosMonT (50%)
Long term asset with considerable 
upside. 786,000 (gross) mostly 
unexplored acres.

doVer WesT (100%)  
Production potential:
 165,000(1) bbls/d clastics 
 250,000(1) bbls/d carbonates
Contingent resource(2):  
 2.0 billion bbls clastics
 2.7 billion bbls carbonates

hangingsTone (100%) 
Production potential for 80,000(1) bbls/d
Contingent resource(2) 0.8 billion bbls

aThabasca has a range of exPLoraTion and deVeLoPMenT 
oPPorTuniTies aT iTs hangingsTone, doVer WesT cLasTics and 
Leduc carbonaTes, Mackay riVer, doVer, birch, grosMonT 
and deeP basin asseT areas, Which haVe been assigned in 
aggregaTe aPProxiMaTeLy 251 MiLLion barreLs of ProbabLe 
reserVes and 8.8 biLLion barreLs of conTingenT resources 
(besT esTiMaTe) by Third-ParTy indePendenT eVaLuaTors. 
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(1) Amounts represent planned future bitumen production based on Athabasca’s working interest and estimates prepared by GLJ Petroleum  
 Consultants Ltd. and DeGolyer and MacNaughton Canada Limited.  See the “Forward Looking Advisory at page 2.

(2) Best estimate



AT H A B A S C A  O I L  S A N D S  C O R P.

ANNUAL REPORT 2010  |  9

In 2010, Athabasca focused its operations on regulatory approvals, drilling more delineation 
core-holes and water wells, acquiring a company and thus gaining more acreage, running 
computer models to test TAGD and quietly buying petroleum and natural gas rights in a new 
area of interest.

reguLaTory fiLings
In December 2009, Athabasca filed its regulatory application for the MacKay River commercial 
SAGD project. Then the regulatory, environment and project team of Dover OPCO spent the 
year answering a series of supplementary information requests (SIRs). Athabasca estimates 
approximately 24 months for regulatory approvals from the ERCB and Alberta Environment. 
The Company expects it will receive the necessary project approvals by the end of 2011.

Athabasca chose to focus its initial application on its 188,000 acres (gross) (75,000 acres 
net to Athabasca) of MacKay River acreage because it is adjacent to one of the best performing 
SAGD reservoirs in the entire region, Suncor’s MacKay River project. 

In December 2010, the Dover commercial application was filed by Dover OPCO. The team 
expects this application to also take about two years to receive the necessary approvals. 
Athabasca and Cretaceous’ parent worked together on the important technical decisions 
related to the application.

The Dover asset’s target McMurray sands are comparable to Devon’s Jackfish project and 
are aptly suited for SAGD. The clastics are extensive, continuous and predictable, have no 
permeability barriers and are high quality. 

driLLing uPdaTe
The drilling team completed more than 175 wells during the winter seasons of  
2009-2010 and 2010-2011. By June 2010, the Company was able to report that third-party 
evaluators had increased its contingent resources by 20%. This June, Athabasca expects to 
announce another increase of its contingent bitumen resources as evaluated by the same  
third-party evaluators.

During the 2010-2011 winter drilling season, the Company drilled approximately 90 core-hole  
wells to delineate Company’s large land holdings. The majority of wells focused on a portion 
of the unexplored area in Birch and further defining the resources in Hangingstone and  
Dover West.

business deVeLoPMenT
In 2010, Athabasca’s business development group negotiated a plan of arrangement to acquire 
the outstanding shares and warrants of Excelsior Energy Limited. Through the transaction, which 
recieved almost unanimous Excelsior shareholder approval, Athabasca obtained Excelsior’s 
75% working interest (WI) in Hangingstone. It then completed a deal for the remaining  
25% WI in the acreage and became the sole owner by year-end.

This enabled the Company to announce it had accelerated plans to develop a  
12,000 barrels/day SAGD demonstration project on its newly acquired lands. It drilled a 
number of delineation and water wells and shot seismic to obtain the necessary technical 
information for a SAGD application. The application was filed on March 31, 2011. First steam  
is expected to be as early as late 2013.

The Hangingstone asset consists of 110,000 net undeveloped acres, with a currently identified 
contingent resources base (best estimate) capable of supporting the development of a project 
of approximately 80,000 barrels/day. What makes the newly acquired land so attractive is 
its proximity to infrastructure; the major highway to Fort McMurray bisects it as do the major 
export and diluent pipelines. 
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doVer WesT geoscience reserVoir ModeLing
The Dover West area contains clastics and carbonate formations. Altogether, the area is 
expected to support a project of approximately 165,000 barrels/day potential in the oil 
sands (clastics) and another 250,000 barrels/day in the deeper Leduc carbonate reef. The  
third-party evaluators give the clastics contingent resources of 2.0 billion barrels  
(best estimate) and the carbonates contingent resource of 2.7 billion barrels (best estimate). 

The geoscience team completed a variety of computer models to assess the preferred method 
to produce bitumen from the Dover West Leduc carbonate rock. TAGD could be more 
profitable and sustainable than other in-situ recovery methods and requires substantially less 
water than SAGD. Athabasca is considering cogeneration to generate steam for the clastic 
SAGD operations and electricity for the Leduc reef.

In the clastics, the Company plans to apply for a 12,000 barrel/day project in the second 
half of 2011, estimating a 12-month regulatory approvals process and construction would 
begin sometime in 2013 with first steam as early as late 2014. A commercial development 
application is proposed for mid-2015 with first steam occurring sometime in early 2018.

neW LighT oiL and LiQuids-rich gas resource PLays
In 2010 Athabasca began posting and buying acreage in Alberta’s Deep Basin area, where 
a number of significant discoveries of light oil and liquids-rich natural gas had recently  
been announced. By year-end the Company owned approximately one million acres it had 
purchased for less than $100 million.

The target formations Athabasca is looking to evaluate are the Duvernay, Montney, Doig, 
Nordegg and Wilrich. These horizons have emerged as prospective for production of 
oil and liquids-rich natural gas, with the combined application of horizontal drilling and  
multi-stage fracture technology. 

Athabasca also built a department of seasoned professionals, all with a rich background in  
oil, condensate and natural gas liquids in the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin. This 
business model complements Athabasca’s existing oil sands portfolio. It offers a fast track to 
production, low up-front capital expenditures and quick economic returns. Additionally, the 
Company may use the production as a hedge for diluent for its near-term bitumen production. 

This diversification is strategic, in light of the macroeconomic energy and economic conditions 
the world now faces. The Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin and the Athabasca oil  
sands resources are increasingly attractive to international investors, looking for short,  
mid and long-term secure assets in their portfolios. As oil prices climb, Alberta becomes more 
appealing to American, Asian and European companies. 

in Less Than fiVe years, aThabasca has successfuLLy deLineaTed  
12 biLLion barreLs (gross) of conTingenT resource (besT esTiMaTe).  
The coMPany conTinues To inVesTigaTe neW Ways To exTracT resources 
such as Tagd and furTher iMProVeMenTs in horiZonTaL driLLing WiTh 
MuLTi-sTage fracTuring.
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reserVes and resources 
Athabasca has 8.8 billion barrels of contingent resources (best estimate) and 251 million barrels of probable reserves effective  
December 31, 2010 based on reports prepared by GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd. (“GLJ”) and DeGolyer and MacNaughton Canada Limited 
(“D&M”), our independent reserves and resources evaluators.

The evaluation reports incorporate the acquisition of Excelsior, the 2009-2010 winter drilling program, the submission of the Dover regulatory 
application and December 31, 2010 pricing. For Athabasca’s complete reserves and resources information under National Instrument 51-101, 
please refer to the Company’s Annual Information Form dated March 28, 2011 available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

The Company’s bitumen reserves are located in the MacKay River and Dover areas, both part of the 40% joint venture Athabasca has with 
Cretaceous. Probable and possible reserves have been assigned by GLJ to the first phases of the MacKay River and Dover commercial oil  
sands projects, for which regulatory applications have been made for development. The reserves estimates are estimates only. The actual 
reserves may be greater or less than those calculated. The following table shows Athabasca’s interest in the reserves by project:

  Probable reserves(3) Probable + Possible reserves(4)

   gross(2)  net(2)  gross(2)  net(2) 
Property  (mmbbls)(1)  (mmbbls)(1)  (mmbbls)(1)  (mmbbls)(1)

Dover(5)  137  106  155  118
MacKay River(5)  114  87  140  105
Total  251  193  295  223

Notes:

(1)  “mmbbls” means million barrels.

(2)  “Gross Reserves” are the Company’s working interest (operating or non-operating) share before deducting royalties and without including any royalty interests of the Company. 
“Net Reserves” are the Company’s working interest (operating or non-operating) share after deduction of royalty obligations, plus the Company’s royalty interests in reserves.

(3)  “Probable Reserves” are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than Proved Reserves. It is equally likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will 
be greater or less than the sum of the estimated Proved Reserves plus Probable Reserves.

(4)  “Possible Reserves” are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than Probable Reserves. There is a 10% probability that the quantities actually recovered 
will equal or exceed the sum of Proved Reserves plus Probable Reserves plus Possible Reserves.

(5)  The Company’s investments in Dover and MacKay River are accounted for by the equity method and the reserve estimates set out above reflect only the Company’s 40% working 
interests in the MacKay River and Dover areas.

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2006

Athabasca Divested to Cretaceous

2007 2008 2009 2010

BEST ESTIMATE 
CONTINGENT RESOURCES

(billion barrels)

BEST ESTIMATE 
CONTINGENT RESOURCES

(million barrels)

MacKay River 
& Dover
1,794

Birch
1,151

Dover West
Clastics
2,014

31%
9%

4%

13%

20% 23%

Dover West
Carbonates
2,726Grosmont

369

Hangingstone
752



AT H A B A S C A  O I L  S A N D S  C O R P.

12  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Athabasca has contingent resources in each of its oil sands projects. GLJ has evaluated Dover, MacKay River, Dover West and Grosmont while 
D&M has evaluated Hangingstone and Birch. The following table sets out the low, best and high estimate of contingent resources by project. 
The following table does not include the probable and possible reserves volumes that have been assigned by GLJ to the first phases of the 
MacKay River and Dover Oil Sands Projects:

   contingent resources(1)

     Low case(2)  best case(3)  high case(4) 
Property    (mmbbls)(8)  (mmbbls)(8)  (mmbbls)(8)

GLJ Report
Established Technology   
 Dover(6)    772  1,221  1,616
 MacKay River(6)    345  573  983
 Dover West Clastics    1,318  2,014  2,747
Technology Under Development   
 Dover West Carbonates(7)    -  2,726  4,654
 Grosmont(7)    -  369  1,844
   
D&M Report
Established Technology   
 Hangingstone     225  752  1,271
 Birch    131  1,151  2,103
Company Total(5)    2,791  8,806  15,218

Notes

(1)  “Contingent Resources” are defined in the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook (the “COGE Handbook”) as those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to 
be potentially recoverable from known accumulations using established technology or technology under development, but which are not currently considered to be commercially 
recoverable due to one or more contingencies. Contingencies may include factors such as economic, legal, environmental, political and regulatory matters or a lack of markets. 
It is also appropriate to classify as “Contingent Resources” the estimated discovered recoverable quantities associated with a project in the early evaluation stage. Contingent 
Resources are further classified in accordance with the level of certainty associated with the estimates and may be subclassified based on project maturity and/or characterized 
by their economic status. The volumes of contingent bitumen resources in the above table were calculated at the outlet of the proposed extraction plant.

(2)  “Low Estimate” is a classification of estimated resources described in the COGE Handbook as being considered to be a conservative estimate of the quantity that will actually be 
recovered. It is likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the Low Estimate. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be a 90% probability (P90) that 
the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the Low Estimate.

(3)  “Best Estimate” is a classification of estimated resources described in the COGE Handbook as being considered to be the best estimate of the quantity that will actually be 
recovered. It is equally likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater or less than the Best Estimate. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be a  
50% probability (P50) that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the Best Estimate.

(4)  “High Estimate” is a classification of estimated resources described in the COGE Handbook as being considered to be an optimistic estimate of the quantity that will actually be 
recovered. It is unlikely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the High Estimate. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be a 10% probability (P10) 
that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the High Estimate.

(5)  These volumes are arithmetic sums of multiple estimates of contingent bitumen resources, which statistical principles indicate may be misleading as to volumes that may actually 
be recovered. Readers should give attention to the estimates of individual classes of resources and appreciate the differing probabilities of recovery associated with each class as 
explained. In particular, readers should be aware that the likelihood of attaining the sum of the High Estimate is extremely low and of the Low Estimate quite high.

(6)  The Company’s investments in Dover and MacKay River are accounted for by the equity method and the resource estimates set out above reflect only the Company’s 40% 
working interests in the MacKay and Dover areas.

 (7)  The Company’s resources at its Dover West Carbonates and Grosmont assets are contained in carbonate reservoirs. SAGD and CSS, the recovery processes being considered to 
develop these assets, are considered by GLJ to be “technology under development” in carbonate reservoirs. The successful development of the Company’s carbonate reservoirs 
depends on, among other things, the successful development and application of SAGD and CSS or other recovery processes to carbonate reservoirs. Although the technology 
has been developed for application to non-carbonate reservoirs, there are no known successful commercial projects that use SAGD, TAGD or CSS to recover bitumen from 
carbonate formations and there exists a large range in the expected recoverable volumes, the lower end of which may not be economically viable. The principal risks associated 
with SAGD and CSS recovery in carbonate reservoirs are (i) the possibility of unexpected steam channelling which would increase steam requirements resulting in increased 
costs and potentially reduced economically recoverable bitumen volumes, and (ii) potential mechanical operating problems due to production of fines which could cause wellbore 
plugging and reduced bitumen production rates and potential interruption of surface production operations. Although the technical risks associated with “technology under 
development” have been accounted for in the GLJ Report, the timeline for verification of “technology under development” has inherent uncertainty. The Company is also testing 
TAGD as an alternate bitumen recovery process in the Dover West Carbonates. The principal risk associated with TAGD recovery in carbonate reservoirs is to prove TAGD as a 
commercially viable bitumen recovery process. Development will involve significant capital expenditures and a lengthy time to project payout and project payout is not assured. 
If a pilot project and/or the technology under development do not demonstrate potential commerciality in carbonate reservoirs then the Company’s projects on these assets may 
not proceed and this may occur only after significant expenditures have been incurred by the Company. With respect to the Company’s Grosmont asset, the Company’s strategy 
is to continue delineation drilling efforts in the area in order to increase the resource base. The Company has not prepared a development plan or timeline for the Grosmont area, 
and is monitoring industry activity toward demonstrating successful development and production methods for the Grosmont Formation. 

(8)  “mmbbls” means million barrels.
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our PeoPLe
As a fast-emerging leader in Canada’s energy industry, Athabasca has many competitive advantages, including giant oil resources, a strong 
balance sheet, an innovative approach to oil extraction and a smart, action-oriented team of employees.

Expectations are high as the Company builds its employee base and works towards successful project delivery. The investment community 
understands and accepts that Athabasca has superb assets and a solid balance sheet. It is now time for management to demonstrate it can 
compete effectively and deliver exceptional value as an oil sands and oil and liquids-rich gas Company.

Perhaps the Company’s biggest single strength is its newness. Unfettered by the bureaucracy of larger, older industry players, Athabasca has 
a rare opportunity to create a world-class Company from scratch. As it moves ahead to develop its assets, management is engaged in an 
aggressive campaign to recruit the best and the brightest from the energy industry’s talent pool. 

Athabasca expects to double the size of its staff from about 100 to more than 200 within 12 to 15 months, with further growth in the years 
ahead. An engaged, fully committed workforce with strong values and a positive work environment is essential to this effort, not only for the 
ability to do great work, but also for the Company’s continued efforts to attract new members to the fast-growing Athabasca team.

The Company currently has a mix of young professionals and experienced oil sands veterans who all share an entrepreneurial spirit that will 
enable the development of the assets. The attributes employees value in each other include: strong work ethic, leadership skills, high levels of 
integrity and respect for others, ability to work as part of a fast-moving team, community spirit, excellent relationships with co-workers and 
managers, accessibility (demonstrated by an open-door attitude), flexibility and a willingness to share and accept constructive feedback. 

Athabasca has organized itself into asset groups: Dover OPCO (with the seconded employees), Hangingstone, Dover West and the Deep Basin, 
all supported by the corporate groups of drilling, regulatory and environment, finance, corporate development, legal and communications. 
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Athabasca’s first wholly-owned oil sands production is anticipated 
to come from its Hangingstone asset, with first steam anticipated 
as early as the fourth quarter of 2013. Athabasca filed a regulatory 
application on March 31, 2011, for a 12,000 barrels/day SAGD 
project. Design of this project will consider the potential of future 
growth. Development beyond 12,000 barrels/day is dependent upon 
successful geological investigations and will be subject to separate 
environmental assessment and regulatory approval processes.

The Hangingstone property is located approximately 20 kilometres 
southwest of the city of Fort McMurray and is strategically located in 
close proximity to existing infrastructure including the major highway 
to Fort McMurray, power lines, fuel gas supply and export and  
diluent pipelines. The target reservoir is the McMurray, a high quality 
channel sand, with a net pay thickness ranging from 20 to 25 metres. 

The Company and Excelsior Energy Limited entered into an 
arrangement agreement in September for Athabasca to acquire all 
of Excelsior’s issued and outstanding common shares and warrants.  

The board of directors from both companies unanimously agreed to 
the transaction. 

On November 9, the shareholders of Excelsior voted with a 99.9% 
majority to approve the Company’s acquisition of Excelsior pursuant 
to a plan of arrangement. It acquired approximately: 183 million 
barrels of contingent resource (best estimate), $25 million in 
cash and 26,607 net undeveloped acres of land in Hangingstone  
(75% working interest) and operatorship of that Hangingstone land. 
The remaining 25% working interest was subsequently obtained in  
a separate transaction in December.

This additional land allowed Athabasca to accelerate plans to develop 
the Hangingstone property as its first wholly-owned project. The 
Hangingstone asset consists of 110,000 net undeveloped acres, 
with a currently identified contingent resources base (best estimate) 
capable of supporting the development of a project of approximately 
80,000 barrels/day. Production from the project will be marketed  
as bitumen blend.

AT H A B A S C A  O I L  S A N D S  C O R P.
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hangingstone

Excelsior’s shareholders recognized that Athabasca had resources that were well-known, 
well-defined and well-explored. We believe they voted in favour of the transaction and 
over 98% elected Athabasca equity instead of cash because they recognized Athabasca 
has a strong track record of creating value for its shareholders.
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Excelsior’s shareholders recognized that Athabasca had resources that were well-known,  
well-defined and well-explored. We believe they voted in favour of the transaction and over 
98% elected Athabasca equity instead of cash because they recognized Athabasca has a 
strong track record of creating value for its shareholders. 

To support the regulatory application filed in March, the Company drilled 26 delineation wells 
and seven water wells during the 2010 to 2011 winter program.

With the project application filed, the Company now plans to continue engineering and begin 
the procurement process for long-lead time equipment. After regulatory approval is received, 
anticipated sometime in 2012, road construction, site preparation and drilling will commence. 
Athabasca expects to drill 25 well pairs of injectors and producers, along with a number of 
observation wells from well pads. The construction is anticipated to be completed in 2013 
followed by commissioning of the facilities and start-up.

Athabasca will evaluate the project’s economics, capital investment opportunities in other 
asset areas, reservoir knowledge, operational complexities, and optimization of processing 
facilities, new technologies and water management planning before it decides the final  
details of subsequent phases. Provided the first phase is successful, two subsequent projects 
of 25,000 to 40,000 barrels/day each may come on-stream in 2016 and 2018 to arrive at the 
full development potential of 80,000 barrels /day.
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dover West

The Dover West asset is Athabasca’s crown jewel as it contains the 
highest resource density of all the Company’s assets. Altogether, 
the asset is targeted to support a project of approximately 165,000 
barrels/day potential in the clastics and another 250,000 barrels/day 
in the deeper Leduc carbonate reef.

The Dover West asset consists of a large contiguous land base of over 
200,000 acres and is an unusual geologic bitumen area containing 
three primary reservoirs. The clastic sandstones are found in the 
McMurray Formation and the Wabiskaw member of the Clearwater 
Formation. The Company’s third-party evaluators give the clastics 
contingent resources of 2.0 billion barrels (best estimate). The 
Leduc formation of the Devonian–period has contingent resources 
of 2.7 billion barrels (best estimate) as well as 11.3 billion barrels  
(best estimate) of discovered bitumen initially-in-place.

The Company recently acquired strategic infrastructure in the Dover 
West area – gas supply pipelines, roads, an airstrip, work camps 
and other facilities. This infrastructure enables Athabasca to more 
efficiently move drilling, testing and seismic equipment onto key 
locations and to perform operations at Dover West.

Athabasca is optimistic about the potential in this asset.

doVer WesT cLasTics 
Athabasca announced it planned to accelerate the planned production 
for its Dover West area in the Cretaceous clastics which could produce 
165,000 barrels/day at peak production.

The Company plans to file a regulatory application during the second 
half of 2011 for a demonstration SAGD project of up to 12,000 
barrels/day with first steam possibly as early as year-end 2014. It 
will conduct its environmental impact assessment and submit one 
application covering the next two phases in or about mid-2015. Phase 
2 is anticipated to be approximately 25,000 barrels/day with first  
steam planned for 2018. Phase 3 will be between 35,000 to  
50,000 barrels/day with first steam slated for 2020.

The oil sands leases are located directly west of Dover OPCO’s Dover 
commercial oil sands projects. The target zones have a total net pay 
of 13 – 30 metres. Both have excellent reservoir qualities and bitumen 
saturation. The McMurray development is expected to pre-heat the 
overlying Wabiskaw reservoir. 

The Company’s existing data on the Dover West clastics was 
supplemented by the 2010-2011 drilling season with an additional  
21 cored wells and 3 water wells.

doVer WesT Leduc 
The Dover West Leduc carbonate reservoir is the northern-most tip 
of a chain of high quality vertical reefs that extends southward over  
500 kilometres. While other reefs in this chain contain light oil, Dover 
West contains bitumen. The porosity and permeability of this field is 
superior to the Leduc light oil fields. The Company’s goal is to efficiently 
reduce the bitumen’s viscosity so that the bitumen may be recovered as 
easily as the light oil was produced from the other Leduc reefs.

16 | ANNUAL REPORT 2010

AT H A B A S C A  O I L  S A N D S  C O R P.



The Leduc reef has a pay up to 150 metres thick. It is composed of ancient corals filled with 
bitumen, is highly fractured and contains a number of large karsts (caves) saturated with 
bitumen. This reef was discovered through shooting and interpreting 28 square kilometres of 
proprietary 3D seismic and 25 lines covering 293 kilometres of 2D data and acquiring another 
699 kilometres of 2D seismic.

During the summer, Athabasca applied for regulatory approval to conduct two recovery tests 
at Dover West. The first test was a steam injection well to evaluate the use of steam for 
recovery in this reservoir. The second appliction was to test a process developed by Athabasca 
called Thermal Assisted Gravity Drainage (TAGD). TAGD uses heaters installed in horizontal 
wells to heat the reservoir via thermal conduction. The ERCB approved both applications. The 
objective of the two tests is to augment the Company’s geological and reservoir understanding 
and assist in the modeling for a pilot to recover bitumen which would eventually be scaled to 
a commercial operation.

For the TAGD field test, Athabasca drilled two horizontal wells with a vertical spacing of  
eight metres. Electric heaters were installed in both wells and a pump was installed in the lower 
well. This test will confirm if this reservoir can deliver production at temperatures considerably 
lower than those required for SAGD. The heaters in both wells will be energized for about one 
year. Once the bitumen is warm enough to flow, the pump will produce from the lower well 
(called a heater-producer). Four vertical observation wells were also drilled.

Athabasca believes TAGD could be a profitable and sustainable method of producing this large 
bitumen resource, potentially more efficient than SAGD for this reservoir. One of the benefits of 
TAGD is that it requires substantially less water than steam recovery methods. The Company 
is also considering cogeneration to more efficiently generate electricity for TAGD and steam 
for the planned Dover West clastic SAGD operations.

In addition to further steam tests, the Company anticipates applying for a TAGD pilot of up 
to 12,000 barrels/day in late 2011 with a view to obtaining regulatory approval in late 2012 
or early 2013. Construction would commence shortly thereafter with startup in late 2013 or 
early 2014. The first commercial development phase could be in operation as early as 2018, 
depending on results from the field testing and pilot project.
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Mackay river

The project is expected to achieve peak production rates of 150,000 barrels/day.  
The joint venture participation and technical expertise brought additional credibility  
to this project. 

The MacKay River SAGD commercial oil sands development is 
the closest Athabasca project to regulatory approval, expected in  
late 2011. 

Athabasca has drilled more than 132 wells and cored 88, shot  
156 kilometres of proprietary 2D seismic, six square kilometres of 3D 
over the initial development area and acquired another 27 kilometres of 
trade 2D seismic. These established the McMurray reservoirs contain 
approximately 1.4 billion barrels (gross) of contingent resource (best 
estimate) (572 million barrels company interest to Athabasca), about 
285 million barrels (gross) of probable reserves (114 million barrels 
company interest to Athabasca) and 65 million barrels of possible 
reserves (26 million barrels company interest to Athabasca).

The reservoirs are analogous to Suncor’s MacKay River reservoir and 
are of first-rate quality, with an average net thickness of 19 metres, 
although the pay zone, in some areas, is as much as 24 metres. 
There is excellent bitumen saturation throughout and the Company’s 
technical experts are confident they can build a project comparable to 
Suncor’s low steam-oil ratios and high well productivity. Athabasca’s 
independent evaluators believe the project will have a recovery factor 
of about 51%.

Cretaceous, as a subsidiary of the world’s largest energy company, 
brought enormous financial credibility to the project, backed by a very 
large pool of technical professionals. Its parent operates a number of 
heavy oil projects in China, including SAGD and firefloods. 

Together Athabasca and Cretaceous formed Dover OPCO, which 
operates MacKay River and Dover. Athabasca seconded 31 technical 
employees and PetroChina designated six employees to work in  
Dover OPCO. Dover OPCO has subsequently hired the first 11 direct 
full-time employees. 

This group of Athabasca secondees wrote a regulatory application 
resulting in a modest number of supplementary information requests 
(SIRs) from two rounds of questions from the regulators. Most were 
about water for SAGD. Dover OPCO, on behalf of its owners, is 
committed to producing water from aquifers and will not use surface 
water to create steam. It will employ a leading recycling technology 
to reuse up to 95% of the water, taken from deeper aquifers. 
Most of the aquifers in the region are not fit for human or animal  
consumption (non-potable).

AT H A B A S C A  O I L  S A N D S  C O R P.
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Many of the water wells for the first phase of 35,000 barrels/day will be drilled during the  
next winter drilling season (2011-2012).

The Dover OPCO team has established good working relationships with the First Nations in 
the area and continues to consult with them to address any concerns regarding the Company’s 
development plans. As part of the long-term commitment to the Aboriginal groups, the 
Company has awarded them contracts for some of the seismic programs and lease preparation 
for the drilling and coring programs. It is expected that Aboriginal businesses will also benefit 
from opportunities during the construction and operational phases of the project.

As it moves closer to regulatory approvals, the team is working on detailed front-end engineering 
planning. Athabasca and Cretaceous’ parent are collaboratively making key technical decisions 
regarding development. Dover OPCO, together with the Company and another operator in the 
area, are working to build a nine kilometre road into the project area. 

When the Alberta government’s approval of the MacKay River project is received, Athabasca 
and Cretaceous each have 31 days to exercise a put/call option for the project. If Athabasca 
chooses to put to Cretaceous or they choose to use their call option, Cretaceous will pay 
Athabasca up to $680 million, less any outstanding loans from Cretaceous, for the remaining 
40% of MacKay River, or approximately $1/barrel. 

Athabasca’s exploration and development strategy will depend in part on whether the put/call 
options are exercised. Based on its current development strategy, its base case business plan 
assumes this option for MacKay River will not be exercised. 

If neither party exercises its option on the MacKay River assets, Athabasca will participate in 
construction of the central processing facilities which is expected to commence immediately 
after the required approvals are received. This construction is expected to take about two years. 
Phase 1 production is anticipated at approximately 35,000 barrels/day (gross). First steam is 
scheduled to occur in the fourth quarter of 2014. 

The project is expected to achieve peak production rates of 150,000 barrels/day. The joint 
venture participation and technical expertise brought additional credibility to this project.
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dover
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Dover OPCO filed its regulatory application in December with the 
ERCB and Alberta Environment to build a 250,000 barrels/day  
SAGD oil sands project at Dover, 70 kilometres northwest of  
Fort McMurray. It is located west of Chevron’s Ells River project. The 
Company anticipates a 24-month regulatory review before it receives 
the necessary approvals. 

Dover OPCO selected this asset for its second commercial application 
because the target McMurray sands are comparable to Devon’s 
Jackfish project in depth, and the reserve qualities are aptly suited  
for SAGD. 

The Dover asset is approximately 155,000 acres (gross) and the 
Company and Dover OPCO have drilled 176 delineation wells, 
cored 117 and shot 99 kilometres of proprietary 2D seismic and  
19 square kilometres of 3D. It also acquired another 80 kilometres of 
2D trade seismic. 

This activity has shown the asset contains approximately 3.1 billion 
barrels (gross) of contingent resources (best estimate) (1.2 billion 

barrels Company interest to Athabasca), 343 million barrels of 
probable reserves (137 million barrels on a Company interest 
basis) and 46 million barrels of possible reserves (18 million barrels  
to Athabasca). 

The average net pay is 21 metres, although the thickest part of the 
reservoir, up to 34 metres, lies in a north-south fairway focusing on 
the central area, with offshoots into Dover East.

On December 21, 2010, Dover OPCO submitted its regulatory 
application. During the next two years, it anticipates continuing to 
manage the technical details associated with the regulatory process. 
Project approval is estimated in late 2012. During the interim, it will 
respond to SIRs and continue water exploration activities. 

Dover OPCO is reviewing the timing of the first phase to allow for the 
incorporation of design, construction and other operational knowledge 
acquired from the first phase of the MacKay River project. Phase 1 
production from Dover could begin as early as 2016.

Joint ventures are well suited for complicated, capital intensive projects, such as oil sands 
developments. It allows the partners to join forces and leverage a wider set of strengths. 
Athabasca believes more bitumen developers will choose this business model.
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For production to commence in 2016, after regulatory approval Dover OPCO would need to 
commence front-end engineering on the central facilities. After, they would begin detailed 
engineering, procurement, start and finish construction and complete drilling. While a portion 
of the reservoir has associated top gas, management believes it can mitigate this challenge by 
repressurizing the McMurray formation.

Joint ventures are well suited for complicated, capital intensive projects, such as oil sands 
developments. It allows the partners to join forces and leverage a wider set of strengths. 
Athabasca believes more bitumen developers will choose this business model. 

When Dover OPCO receives the government’s approval for the Dover project and provided 
the MacKay River put/call option has been exercised, Athabasca and Cretaceous each have  
31 days to exercise the put/call options for the Dover assets. If either are exercised, Cretaceous 
will pay Athabasca up to $1.32 billion, less any outstanding loans from Cretaceous, for the 
remaining 40% interest in Dover, or approximately $1/barrel. Athabasca expects that if either 
the put or call was exercised for the MacKay River project, the other party would put or call 
their option for Dover.

The first phase is expected to be constructed in Dover North, which is currently intended as 
a 50,000 barrels/day project. The Dover North central processing facilities are expected to 
be designed with expansion capabilities for future phases of the project and another plant 
may be built in Dover South. Subsequent development phases will bring the project to an 
ultimate capacity of 250,000 barrels/day. The timing and size of subsequent phases are still  
being determined.

155,000
acres (gross)

40%
Working inTeresT

250,000
barreLs/day

Peak ProducTion
PoTenTiaL (gross)

3.1 billion
barreLs of  

conTingenT 
resources(gross)

best estimate
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other Properties

birch 
Athabasca’s Birch assets is the Company’s largest, in net acreage, with approximately  
470,000 acres of contiguous land containing 1.2 billion barrels of contingent resource (best 
estimate), enough to support a commercial oil sands project with about 88,000 barrels/day 
production. Since only 10% of the Birch asset has been explored, Athabasca believes the vast 
remaining area also has significant commercial development potential. 

In the 2010-2011 drilling season the Company drilled 22 core-hole wells to delineate the 
northern and western areas of the Company’s acreage and the initial results looked promising. 
So far, the Company has shot 950 kilometres of 2D seismic. The oil sands have net pays of  
20 to 28 metres. 

grosMonT 
Athabasca’s Grosmont asset holds the promise of significant amounts of bitumen resource in 
the carbonate rock. This is the Company’s longest-term development area as it plans to be an 
early follower, once others have solved the production challenges found in this area.

Except for one successful third-party pilot test, the direct assessment of productivity of 
the carbonates is based solely on laboratory tests, the analysis of cores and logs as well as 
simulation studies. There is currently one successful pilot and another unsuccessful test in the 
Grosmont formation. The Company and its joint venture participant, ZAM Ventures Alberta 
Inc. (ZAM) continue to monitor the activities of other companies in the area.

Athabasca and ZAM own approximately 786,000 acres (393,000 acres net to Athabasca), 
each holding a 50% working interest. Third-party assessors have assigned approximately  
739 million barrels of contingent resources (best estimate) and of that, 369 million barrels 
are credited to Athabasca. The Company drilled nine core-hole wells during the winter of  
2010-2011 and is pleased with the preliminary results.

470,000 acres

100% Working inTeresT

1.2 biLLion barreLs  
of conTingenT  

resources 
best estimate

88,000 barreLs/day 
ProducTion PoTenTiaL 

786,000 acres (gross)

50% Working inTeresT

739 MiLLion barreLs  
of conTingenT  

resources (gross) 
best estimate
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deeP basin LighT oiL
Alberta’s Deep Basin represents a new, fast-growing and significant 
exploration and development business for Athabasca. Since  
May 2010 the Company bought approximately one million acres 
which include the Duvernay, Montney, Doig, Nordegg and Wilrich 
highly-pressured formations in northwestern Alberta.

This business model complements the Company’s existing oil sands 
portfolio because it provides a fast track to light oil production and  
has low up-front capex by offering quick economic returns. The 
Company plans to apply a ‘well manufacturing mindset’ to the 
drilling of its first six to eight wells to optimize the key learning from 
each well, apply those efficiencies and add cost-controls to each  
subsequent well.

A number of exploration wells in the vicinity of Athabasca’s lands  
have discovered high quality light oil and liquids-rich natural gas. 
These players have horizontally drilled into the formations of interest 
and conducted multi-stage fracturing completions. The Company will 
use the same technologies to drill and complete its wells.

As the world’s energy geopolitics rapidly change, the financial 
community has turned bearish and evaluates many global investments 

as risky. Canada is increasingly viewed as more and more attractive. 
The Deep Basin represents an area where a company, like Athabasca, 
can acquire large acreage holdings with impressive in-place oil 
and liquids-rich natural gas at attractive fiscal terms and with fast 
economic returns.

concLusion
Athabasca’s large resource base and long-life assets offer shareholders  
a high leverage to oil prices. Its oil sands in-situ assets and conventional 
oil and liquids-rich natural gas play presents a good mix of short, mid 
and long-term opportunities. There is a large upside to add barrels of 
contingent resource and early production. The Company continues to 
be well-capitalized with important undrawn credit and put/call options.

As Athabasca enters its fifth year of existence, it expects many more 
exciting and challenging developments as it explores for, produces and 
manages both its bitumen and tight oil portfolios. 

It is a dynamic energy Company poised to unlock bitumen from 
Canada’s vast oil sands region and light oil from its Deep Basin play in 
northern Alberta.

As the world’s energy geopolitics rapidly change, the financial community has turned 
bearish and evaluates many global investments as risky. Canada is increasingly viewed 
as more and more attractive. The Deep Basin represents an area where a company, like 
Athabasca, can acquire large acreage holdings with impressive in-place oil and liquids-rich 
natural gas at attractive fiscal terms and with fast economic returns.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
This management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) of Athabasca Oil Sands Corp.  
(“Athabasca” or the “Company”) is dated March 1, 2011 and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of 
the Company for the year ended December 31, 2010 which have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (“GAAP”). Unless otherwise noted, all financial measures are expressed in Canadian dollars and tabular dollar amounts are in 
thousands. This MD&A contains forward looking information based on the Company’s current expectations and projections. For information on 
the material factors and assumptions underlying such forward looking information, refer to the “Forward Looking Information” advisory at the 
end of this MD&A. Additional information relating to Athabasca is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, including the Company’s most recent 
Annual Information Form to be filed by March 31, 2011.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW 
The Company is focused on the exploration for, and sustainable development and production of, bitumen from oil sands in the Athabasca 
region of northeastern Alberta, Canada. Athabasca does not currently have any commercial operations. The Company expects to produce its 
recoverable bitumen using in-situ recovery methods such as steam assisted gravity drainage (“SAGD”). Athabasca has over 2.5 million net 
acres of mineral resource lands.

Athabasca’s acreage provides seven primary development areas as outlined below:

     Gross Peak  Gross First First 
   Working  Production  Phase Steam/Heat 
   Interest Formation Potential Gross Land Production of First 
Project  (%) Type (bbls/day) (Acres) (bbls/day) Phase

Hangingstone  100 Clastic 70,000 110,000  12,000 2013-2014
Dover West Clastics 100 Clastic 165,000 205,000 12,000 2014-2015
Dover West  
 Leduc Carbonates 100 Carbonate(1) 250,000  <12,000 2013-2014
MacKay River  40 Clastic 150,000 190,000 35,000 2014-2015
Dover  40 Clastic 250,000 125,000 50,000 TBD(2)

Birch  100 Clastic 88,000 470,000 TBD(2) TBD(2)

Grosmont  50 Carbonate(1) TBD 895,000 TBD(2) TBD(2)

(1) See “Technology Under Development” below. 

(2) To be determined. The Company has not prepared a definitive plan or timeline for the development of these properties.

The Company’s common shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the trading symbol “ATH”.

Highlights for the Year Ended December 31, 2010 
• On February 10, 2010 the Company entered into a series of agreements (the “PetroChina Transaction Agreements”) with a wholly owned 

subsidiary (“PetroChina International Subco”) of PetroChina International Investment Company Limited (“PetroChina International”), 
which itself is a wholly owned subsidiary of PetroChina Company Limited, pursuant to which, among other things, PetroChina International 
Subco: (a) acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company that owned an undivided 60% 
working interest in the MacKay River and Dover oil sands projects for cash consideration of $1.90 billion; (b) made certain credit facilities 
available to the Company ; and (c) agreed to put/call agreements which, subject to conditions, allow either Athabasca to sell or PetroChina 
International Subco to buy the remaining 40% working interest for up to $2.00 billion if regulatory approval for the projects has been received  
(the “PetroChina Transaction”). The Company recorded a $1.65 billion gain on the transaction.

• On April 8, 2010 Athabasca completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”) and issued 75,000,000 common shares to the public for net 
cash proceeds of approximately $1.26 billion. The IPO was the largest in Canada since 1999. 

• On November 9, 2010 the Company acquired all the issued and outstanding shares and warrants of Excelsior Energy Limited (“Excelsior”). 
The total value of the transaction was approximately $133.2 million, with an attributed value to Excelsior’s oil sands assets of approximately 
$127.6 million. Through the transaction, Athabasca acquired a majority interest in concentrated oil sands leases at Hangingstone and 
consolidated Athabasca’s position in the area. The remaining minority interest in these leases was acquired in a subsequent transaction.

205,000
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• In November 2010 the Company closed the acquisition of strategic infrastructure in the Dover West area.

• Athabasca announced the acceleration of development of the Hangingstone and Dover West bitumen properties on  
November 29, 2010. Utilizing the consolidated acreage position in Hangingstone from the Excelsior acquisition, the Company anticipates 
a regulatory application in the first half of 2011 for a 12,000 barrel per day SAGD demonstration project. The Company also anticipates 
an application in the second half of 2011 for a 12,000 SAGD demonstration project in Dover West cretaceous oil sands. The Dover West 
properties also contain Leduc formation carbonate rock with additional contingent resources where Athabasca will conduct two tests. The 
first is an injection test to evaluate the use of steam for recovery in the Leduc formation while the second test is a two-well conduction 
heating trial to assess the effectiveness of thermal assisted gravity drainage (“TAGD”).

• In December 2010 Dover Operating Corp. (“Dover OpCo”) submitted the application to the regulatory authorities for the Dover oil 
sands project of 250,000 barrels/day (Athabasca 40% working interest). The application for the MacKay River oil sands project of  
150,000 barrels/day, the other 40% owned project in the PetroChina Transaction, was filed in December 2009.

Selected Financial Information
The following table summarizes selected consolidated financial information of the Company as at and for the years ended:

As at December 31,     2010  2009  2008

BALANCE SHEET ITEMS:      
Total assets   $ 2,566,822 $ 893,583 $ 801,847
Long-term debt   $ 449,736 $ 398,996 $ 378,906
Shareholders’ equity   $ 2,032,120 $ 172,054 $ 362,266

($ Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)  
Year Ended December 31,     2010  2009  2008

INCOME STATEMENT ITEMS:      
Interest and other income   $ 14,459 $ 2,562 $ 5,451
Gain on sale of assets   $ 1,645,172 $ - $ -
Net income (loss)   $ 1,477,443 $ (75,652) $ (24,647)
Net income (loss) per share - basic   $ 4.24 $ (0.38) $ (0.14)
Net income (loss) per share - diluted   $ 4.21 $ (0.38) $ (0.14)

The significant increase to total assets is primarily due to the proceeds from the PetroChina Transaction and IPO, offset by payment of a special 
dividend. See “Capital Expenditures” below for a description of the Company’s acquisition, exploration, evaluation and development activities 
and expenditures. Long-term debt increased in 2010 as a result of the Company redeeming the senior secured notes with proceeds from 
PetroChina Loan #1 (described below) and borrowings under PetroChina Loan #2 (described below). Interest and other income increased in 
2010 due to the higher amount of cash and short term investments. The gain on sale of assets is a result of the PetroChina Transaction. For the 
year ended December 31, 2010 the Company’s net income of $1.48 billion was primarily due to the gain on the PetroChina Transaction offset by 
$128.9 million in income taxes. The higher loss in 2009 was mostly due to a pre-payment penalty on retiring debt and higher interest expense.

MacKay River and Dover / PetroChina Transaction
The MacKay River and Dover oil sands projects are the two assets areas in Athabasca’s portfolio where applications for full field development 
have been filed. MacKay River has an ultimate gross development potential of 150,000 barrels/day and is expected to be developed with a first 
phase of 35,000 barrels/day with subsequent phases of 35,000 to 40,000 barrels/day. Dover has an ultimate gross development potential 
of 250,000 barrels/day and is expected to be developed with a first phase of 50,000 barrels/day. Both projects will be developed with SAGD.

On February 10, 2010, the Company completed the PetroChina Transaction, pursuant to which, among other things, PetroChina International 
Subco acquired 100% of the shares of a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which, at the time of closing, held a 60% working interest in 
the MacKay River and Dover oil sands projects, for cash consideration of $1.90 billion. The PetroChina Transaction Agreements also provide for 
certain financing arrangements for the Company. After the close of the PetroChina Transaction, Athabasca holds a 40% interest in the MacKay 
River and Dover projects.

The PetroChina Transaction includes a put/call option agreement (the “Put/Call Option Agreement”) pursuant to which, in certain circumstances, 
PetroChina International Subco may be required to purchase or may exercise the right to acquire, as the case may be, the Company’s remaining 



AT H A B A S C A  O I L  S A N D S  C O R P.

26  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2010

 40% working interest in the MacKay River oil sands assets and the Dover oil sands assets by acquiring the assets or shares of the wholly 
owned subsidiary of the Company which holds an undivided 40% interest in the MacKay River oil sands assets or the wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Company which holds an undivided 40% interest in the Dover oil sands assets, for aggregate cash consideration of up to $2.00 billion 
(collectively, the “Put/Call Options”). If the Put/Call Options are exercised, the proceeds must first be used to repay any amounts outstanding 
under the loan agreements. See “Put/Call Options Related to MacKay River and Dover” for more details on the Put/Call Options.

The financing arrangements forming part of the PetroChina Transaction included three loan facilities (the “PetroChina Loans”). The first loan 
facility (“PetroChina Loan #1) was used by the Company to repay the senior secured notes. PetroChina International Subco provided the 
Company with a non-revolving loan of $430.0 million, which was used to repay the Company’s $400.0 million of senior secured notes together 
with accrued interest and certain related costs. Interest on PetroChina Loan #1 is payable semi-annually at a rate equal to the LIBOR Rate 
plus 450 basis points. The loan matures on the earlier of June 30, 2022, a change of control of the Company or the date any of the Put/Call 
Options are exercised. Before maturity, the loan will be repaid as to principal on a pro rata basis with indebtedness under PetroChina Loan #2 
and PetroChina Loan #3 (described below) from 90% of cash flow (as provided in the PetroChina Loan agreements) of the MacKay River joint 
venture and the Dover joint venture.

The second and third loan facilities (PetroChina Loan #2 and PetroChina Loan #3) provide up to $100.0 million and up to $560.0 million, 
respectively, for certain initial development expenditures on the MacKay River joint venture and Dover joint venture projects, provided that 
PetroChina Loan #3 is only available if the Put/Call Option Agreement is not exercised and expires and the MacKay River oil sands project 
approval is obtained. Interest on both loans is payable semi-annually at a rate equal to the LIBOR Rate plus 450 basis points. PetroChina 
Loan #2 matures on the earlier of June 30, 2024, a change of control of the Company or the date any of the Put/Call Options are exercised. 
Before maturity, the loan will be repaid as to principal on a pro rata basis with indebtedness under PetroChina Loan #1 and PetroChina Loan #3 
from 90% of cash flow (as provided in the PetroChina Loan agreements) of the MacKay River and Dover entities. By December 31, 2010, the 
Company had drawn $19.7 million on PetroChina Loan #2. 

The MacKay River regulatory application and environmental impact assessment were submitted in December 2009 with approval estimated 
in late 2011 or early 2012. First steam and production from phase I is scheduled for 2014. The Dover regulatory application and environmental 
impact assessment were submitted in December 2010 with approval estimated to take two years.

Initial Public Offering
On April 8, 2010, the Company completed the IPO and issued 75,000,000 common shares to the public for cash proceeds of approximately 
$1.26 billion, net of commissions and other costs aggregating approximately $87.5 million. Details of the IPO are outlined in a Prospectus dated 
March 30, 2010 available on www.sedar.com (the “Prospectus”).

Hangingstone and the Excelsior Acquisition
On September 13, 2010 the Company entered into an arrangement agreement to acquire all the issued and outstanding shares of Excelsior. 
The arrangement was completed on November 9, 2010 with a 99.9% majority vote of Excelsior securityholders. The total consideration paid 
by Athabasca to Excelsior securityholders was valued at $133.2 million and consisted of 9.3 million common shares, $11.2 million cash and  
3.5 million warrants. Through the transaction, Athabasca acquired $127.6 million in property and equipment mostly attributable to a  
75% interest in concentrated oil sands leases at Hangingstone. The Company also acquired $25.5 million in cash and short-term investments.

In December 2010 Athabasca acquired the remaining 25% minority interest in the Excelsior Hangingstone leases for 1.6 million common shares 
valued at $24.6 million.

With the addition of the acreage acquired in these two transactions to Athabasca’s existing Hangingstone leases, the Company accelerated 
the development of the 100% owned project. The first phase of Hangingstone development is anticipated to be a 12,000 barrels/day SAGD 
demonstration project with first steam potentially as early as fourth quarter 2013. Athabasca expects to file the regulatory application for this 
first phase in the first half of 2011. Athabasca believes that Hangingstone could ultimately support developments with production in excess of 
70,000 barrels/day through subsequent development phases.

Dover West
Athabasca has 100% ownership of the Dover West projects. The Company’s Dover West area contains resources in Cretaceous age oil sands 
(Dover West clastics) and in the Devonian age Leduc formation carbonate rocks (Dover West carbonate). 

The Company has accelerated the development timeline of Dover West from that previously anticipated. For the Dover West clastics, Athabasca 
currently plans to file a regulatory application in the second half of 2011 for a demonstration SAGD project of up to 12,000 barrels/day with 
first steam potentially as early as the end of 2014. Athabasca believes that the Dover West clastics have an ultimate development potential of 
165,000 barrels/day. For the Dover West carbonate formation, Athabasca plans to conduct two tests in 2011. The first is an injection test to 
evaluate the use of steam for bitumen recovery in the Leduc formation while the second test is a two-well conduction heating trial to assess the 
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effectiveness of TAGD. The conduction heating test will indicate if the reservoir can deliver production at temperatures considerably lower than 
those required for SAGD. The Company believes the Leduc carbonate formation has an ultimate development potential of 250,000 barrels/day. 

Drilling Update
The 2009-2010 winter drilling program successfully added another 20% of net resource volumes to Athabasca’s portfolio. These additions 
resulted from the 12 wells drilled at Dover West, 52 wells at Dover and four wells in the Grosmont area. 

The Company estimates approximately 120 delineation, water and test wells in the 2010-2011 winter drilling program. Given preliminary results, 
management anticipates the additional delineation drilling will add more net resource volumes to its asset base.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
The following table summarizes the Company’s results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009: 

Year Ended December 31,  2010  2009

Revenue    
 Interest and other income $ 14,459 $ 2,562
Expenses    
 General and administrative  14,779  13,892
 Stock-based compensation  12,140  5,410
 Financing and interest  21,122  74,977
 Depreciation and accretion  1,120  418
 Research and development  175  523
    49,336  95,220
Gain on sale of assets  1,645,172  -
Earnings (loss) before income taxes  1,610,295  (92,658)
Current income tax expense (recovery)  (14,390)  91,146
Future income tax expense (recovery)  143,286  (108,152)
Earnings (loss) before the following  1,481,399  (75,652)
Equity loss on investments  (3,956)  -
Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) $ 1,477,443 $ (75,652)

Interest and Other Income 
Interest and other income is primarily comprised of interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments.  
For the year ended December 31, 2010, interest income increased $11.9 million compared to 2009 due to higher investment and cash balances. 
Short-term investments and cash increased with proceeds of the PetroChina Transaction and IPO, offset by the special dividend.

General and Administrative 
General and administrative expense is comprised of salaries, consulting fees, rent and other office related costs. For the year ended  
December 31, 2010, general and administrative expenses increased by $0.9 million or 6% compared to 2009. The increase results primarily 
from the addition of staff and office space. Total head count has increased from 66 at the end of 2009 to 106 at the end of 2010. The increase 
in general and administrative expenses would have been larger if not for staff who have been seconded to Dover OpCo (see Related Party 
Transactions) in 2010. Since June 2010, the costs of these staff are not reflected in general and administrative expense as they are reimbursed 
by Dover OpCo. A portion of these reimbursed salaries and wages increases the Company’s equity loss on investments.

Stock-based Compensation 
For the year ended December 31, 2010 stock-based compensation expense increased by 124% or $6.7 million compared to the same period in 
2009. The increased expense results from 2.8 million stock options and 0.7 million Restricted Share Units (RSUs) granted to new employees 
as well as amendments made to the majority of the stock based compensation agreements in the fourth quarter of 2009 in exchange for a 
reduction in the exercise price and modified vesting periods. The amendments were in conjunction with a modified change of control definition 
and the elimination of the incentive bonus plan. Before the fourth quarter 2009 amendments, stock based compensation was valued assuming 
a zero volatility which resulted in a lower value per option.

Financing and Interest 
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, financing and interest expense decreased by $53.9 million or 72%, compared to the same 
period in 2009. The decrease results mainly from a $28.0 million one time charge in 2009 on early retirement of the senior secured notes, 
lower deferred borrowing cost amortization of $19.0 million and lower interest expense of $6.9 million. The decrease in deferred borrowing 
costs amortization is due to no costs being deferred on the PetroChina Loans. Interest costs decreased due to a lower interest rate on the  
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PetroChina Loans #1 and #2 outstanding in 2010 (average interest rate of 5.2% during the year) as compared to the interest rate on the senior 
secured notes outstanding in 2009 (13% interest rate). 

Depreciation and Accretion
The $0.7 million increase in depreciation and accretion expense in 2010 compared to 2009 is due to higher depreciation on the larger balance 
of corporate assets and higher accretion on the asset retirement obligations.

Gain on Sale of Assets
Gain on sale of assets in 2010 represents the gain recognized on the sale of all the issued and outstanding shares of a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Company that owned an undivided 60% working interest in the MacKay River and Dover oil sands projects to PetroChina International 
pursuant to the PetroChina Transaction. The gain was calculated as the $1.90 billion proceeds less the carrying value of the wholly owned 
subsidiary and transaction costs.

Current Income Tax Recovery
For year ended December 31, 2010, the Company’s current income tax recovery was $14.4 million and is primarily due to an actual and expected 
application of 2010 non-capital losses against 2009 taxable income. There was a $91.1 million current tax expense in 2009 which arose in 
connection with certain partnership interests being transferred within the corporate group of entities which resulted in a taxable capital gain of 
approximately $1.90 billion.

Future Income Tax Expense 
Athabasca’s year ended future income tax expense results primarily from the PetroChina Transaction. The primary taxable event occurred in 
2009 while the transaction closed in 2010. For 2009 this resulted in a large current tax expense and an offsetting future income tax recovery. 
In 2010, there is a future tax expense which matches the timing of the accounting gain.

At December 31, 2010, the Company had approximately $527.3 million of tax pools available for deduction against future taxable income. 

Equity Loss on Investments
Subsequent to the PetroChina Transaction, Athabasca accounts for its 40% interest in the MacKay River and Dover oil sands projects 
using equity accounting. This amount represents the Company’s share of the oils sands projects’ general and administrative expenses since  
February 2010.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 
The following table summarizes the consolidated capital expenditures made by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009: 

Year Ended December 31,   2010  2009

Mineral properties – acquisitions and rentals $ 132,186 $ 3,509
Exploration and evaluation - delineation drilling  36,027  42,106
Exploration and evaluation - geological and geophysical  12,659  5,770
Engineering and development  13,434  6,337
Corporate assets  758  894
Capital expenditures included in property and equipment(1)  195,064  58,616
Capital expenditures included in assets held for sale  1,731  53,390
Expenditures included in investments (2)  30,178  -
Total capital expenditures (3) $ 226,973 $ 112,006

(1) 2010 includes $11.0 million net cash paid on the Excelsior acquisition.

(2) Relates to the Company’s 40% working interest in the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures. After the closing of the PetroChina Transaction, Athabasca accounts for its 
investment in the MacKay River and Dover areas using the equity method. Accordingly, the Company’s 40% working interest in the MacKay River and Dover areas is accounted 
for in the investments line on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. 

(3) 2010 Includes $11.2 million in capitalized borrowing costs (2009 - $17.9 million).

Capital Expenditures Included in Property and Equipment
Mineral Properties – Acquisition and Rentals
At December 31, 2010 the Company owned more than 2.5 million net acres of mineral resource leases and permits in northern Alberta. 
Capitalized costs associated with mineral property expenditures includes lease acquisitions and lease rental payments. During 2010, most of 
the spending was associated with acquiring mineral resource lands in a new area of interest. 2009 spending was mostly on rental payments.
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Exploration and Evaluation - Delineation Drilling 
Expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2010 relate to the drilling of 16 wells outside of Dover and MacKay River during the 2010 winter 
core hole delineation drilling program. The 2010 winter core hole program included 12 wells in the Dover West Area and four wells in the 
Grosmont Area where the Company holds operatorship and a 50% working interest. The 2009 winter core program was similar to the 2010 
program for Athabasca’s 100% owned projects, but the 2009 expenditures include $17.8 million relating to the Company’s 40% interest in 
the Dover and MacKay River drilling programs. These expenditures are included in the equity investment in 2010 which is the primary driver 
decreasing the spending compared to last year.

Exploration and Evaluation - Geological and Geophysical 
Expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2010 included core analysis and seismic acquisition. The Company obtained core analysis 
on certain wells drilled during the 2010 winter core hole delineation drilling program. In addition, the Company acquired approximately  
98 kilometers of 2D seismic data and 28 square kilometers of 3D seismic data. The increase from last year is due mostly to the additional  
3D seismic as only 5 square kilometers were acquired in 2009.

Engineering and Development 
Expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2010 included verification of new exploration sites, development of surface mineral exploration 
sites as well as regulatory initiatives. Also included is the acquisition of strategic infrastructure in the Dover West area. Expenditures in 2009 
relate mostly to Athabasca’s 40% share in MacKay River and Dover whereas 2010 expenditures relate mostly to Dover West.

Corporate Assets 
Corporate asset expenditures during the year ended December 31, 2010 related almost entirely to information technology assets. 

Capital Expenditures Included in Investment 
Subsequent to the PetroChina Transaction, Athabasca accounts for its 40% interest in the MacKay River and Dover oil sands projects using 
equity accounting. The majority of capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2010 related to the drilling of 52 core wells in the  
Dover Area, eight water wells in the MacKay River area and two water wells in the Dover area. In addition, the joint venture obtained core 
analysis on certain wells drilled during the 2010 winter core hole delineation drilling program and acquired approximately 18 square kilometers 
of 3-D seismic data. Engineering and regulatory activities continue on the MacKay River and Dover projects. The costs incurred in 2009 by 
Athabasca on 40% of Dover and MacKay River are classified in capital expenditures included in property and equipment and amount to  
$35.6 million for the year ended 2009.

Capital Expenditures Included in Assets Held for Sale
The spending in 2009 relates to amounts incurred on the 60% working interest in the Dover and MacKay River projects that was sold as part 
of the PetroChina Transaction. No amounts were incurred in the year ended December 31, 2010 by Athabasca on the assets held for sale as all 
related expenditures were reimbursed as part of the PetroChina Transaction.

OUTLOOK
Athabasca significantly accelerated and expanded its plans for oil sands development in the fourth quarter of 2010 with the decision to advance 
two wholly owned multi-phase developments at Hangingstone and Dover West. 

Hangingstone 
The Company’s decision to advance development was aided by its acquisition of Excelsior which included a 75% working interest in and 
operatorship of two contiguous blocks of land in Hangingstone.

After the Company acquired the remaining minority interest (25%) in these blocks in December 2010, it held over 110,000 undeveloped acres 
of land in Hangingstone. These transactions enabled Athabasca to announce a multi-phase development program. Athabasca plans to submit 
an application for a 12,000 barrels/day demonstration SAGD project in the first half of 2011 and the target for first steam is as early as late 
2013. To achieve this, the construction schedule for the central processing facilities was advanced by almost a year. Athabasca believes that 
Hangingstone could peak at more than 70,000 barrels/day by 2020.

Dover West Clastics
Athabasca believes it can also accelerate construction at Dover West without a material increase in capital intensity. The Company has planned 
an aggressive delineation drilling program this winter (2010-2011) to be able to submit a regulatory application during the second half of 2011. 
This application would be for a demonstration SAGD project of up to 12,000 barrels/day with first steam possibly by year end 2014 in the clastic 
formation (sands) of Dover West. 
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Dover West Carbonates
The existing contingent resources assigned to the Dover West carbonates assume SAGD development as a base case. The Company is 
investigating technology such as TAGD that could take better advantage of the reservoir characteristics.

In 2011 the Company will be conducting two tests to help decide which technology is more appropriate for this reservoir. The first test will 
evaluate the use of steam for recovery while the second will use two horizontal wells to see how the Leduc reef responds to electrical heating 
(TAGD). Results from the steam injection test are expected in the second quarter of 2011 while results of the TAGD test will be available in the 
winter of 2011/2012 when the area can again be accessed.

MacKay River and Dover 
Athabasca and PetroChina International Subco formed Dover OpCo to develop and manage both the MacKay River and Dover commercial oil 
sands projects. A regulatory application for the MacKay River commercial oil sands project was filed in late 2009 on time and on budget and 
the parties are hopeful all approvals will be received by the end of 2011. As anticipated, Dover OpCo responded to a number of supplementary 
information requests from both Alberta Environment and the Energy Resources Conservation Board. Detailed engineering is scheduled to begin 
in 2011, and procurement of long lead items is also planned subject to regulatory status and partner approval.

During 2010, the MacKay River joint venture received regulatory approval to build the first nine kilometers of a road into the MacKay River area. 
Construction has begun, in cooperation with a third party industry participant and is anticipated to be complete in 2011.

Subject to approvals, facilities construction at MacKay River is slated to start in early 2012 with Phase I first bitumen production planned in 
2014. Phase I is expected to achieve production of 35,000 barrels/day (gross). Full production is targeted at 150,000 barrels/day (gross). The 
project is currently on-schedule and on-budget.

The regulatory application for the Dover commercial oil sands project was submitted in late 2010 and Dover OpCo estimates a two year period 
for the various regulatory authorities to review. In 2011, Dover OpCo will continue to manage the technical details associated with the regulatory 
process. Construction should take approximately two years and the first phase is being designed for 50,000 barrels/day (gross). Dover OpCo 
is reviewing the timing of the first phase of the Dover commercial oil sands project to allow for the incorporation of design, construction 
and other operational knowledge from Phase I of the MacKay River commercial oil sands project. Full production for Dover is estimated at  
250,000 barrels/day (gross).

Winter Drilling 2010/2011
The final winter drilling program includes approximately 120 wells, acquiring up to 60 square kilometers of 3D seismic and acquiring up to  
130 kilometers of 2D seismic. The plan is to drill the majority of core holes in the Hangingstone, Birch and Dover West clastic areas. In addition, 
the Company anticipates drilling water wells in the Dover West clastics and Hangingstone. There is anticipated to be one directional well,  
two heater/producer wells and additional observation/delineation wells drilled at Dover West carbonates. 

Based on preliminary results, management expects that the additional delineation drilling will result in the addition of net resources volumes to 
its asset base.

During 2010 Athabasca completed the purchase of strategic infrastructure in the Dover West area that included gas supply pipelines, roads, 
an airstrip, work camp and other facilities. This enables the Company to more efficiently move drilling, testing and seismic equipment onto key 
locations and to perform its winter experimental tests at Dover West.

Corporate
On December 31, Athabasca had 106 staff and full time consultants and it expects to double the number of full-time people within 15 months. 
Athabasca’s capital budget for 2011 is $302.0 million.
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IPO Use of Proceeds Update 
2010 Capital Spending
In Athabasca’s March 30, 2010 Prospectus, the Company outlined anticipated sources and uses funds for 2010 through 2014. The following 
table summarizes how actual 2010 cash spending compared to that anticipated in the Prospectus:

     2010 
     Prospectus  2010 
($ millions)    Estimate  Actual  Variance

Hangingstone    0.3  13.6  13.3
Dover West    28.2  72.9  44.7
MacKay River    14.4  9.3  (5.1)
Dover    16.6  16.9  0.3
Birch    0.9  8.6  7.7
Grosmont    11.6  4.5  (7.1)
Other    14.2  89.0  74.8
Total Capital    86.2  214.8  128.6
General and Administration    19.2  15.0  (4.2)
Interest Expense    31.6  30.4  (1.2)
TOTAL     137.0  260.2  123.2

The additional $123.2 million in spending in 2010 compared to the Prospectus estimate is mostly due to additional spending in Hangingstone, 
Dover West and Other. The Hangingstone increase is mostly due to the net $11.0 million cash paid for Excelsior and the variance in Dover West 
is due to the purchase of land and strategic infrastructure. Other spending is higher than estimated due mostly to purchases of mineral resource 
lands in a new area of interest.

2011-2014 Capital Spending
The Prospectus estimated $2.30 billion in capital spending in the period from 2011 to 2014 and the need to raise $73.2 million in external 
financing in 2014. The following table summarizes the Company’s current estimate of spending from 2011 to 2014:

  Estimated 2011-2014 Capital Spending 
($ millions)  Low High

Hangingstone      850   900
Dover West      1,100   1,150
MacKay River      500   550
Dover      150   200
Birch      50   100
Grosmont      25   75

The significant changes in this period from the Prospectus are the increased spending on the acceleration of Hangingstone development with 
the Excelsior acquisition, increased spending on the acceleration of Dover West clastic development with a 12,000 bbl/day first phase starting 
in 2014 or 2015 and decreased spending on the revised timing of the first phase of Dover.

Given the estimated project spending and the additional spending in 2010 outlined above, Athabasca is currently estimating that an additional 
$675.0 to $775.0 million in financing will be needed in 2014 if the Put/Call Options are not exercised. Management anticipates the Company 
will enter into other joint venture arrangements, which would reduce Athabasca’s share of expenditures and provide additional financing. Other 
alternative sources of financing that may be considered when reviewing the Company’s optimal capital structure include project financing or 
new equity.

The exercise of the Put/Call Options would result in an additional source of cash of up to $2.00 billion, less any amounts due on the PetroChina 
Loans as of the date of exercise and income taxes of approximately $250.0 million. Further capital spending on MacKay River and Dover would 
cease as of the date of exercise.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS
Fourth Quarter 2010
The following table summarizes the consolidated results of the Company for the three months ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:

Quarter Ended December 31,  2010  2009

Revenue    
 Interest and other income $ 5,950 $ 126
Expenses    
 General and administrative  4,213  5,404
 Stock-based compensation  3,996  3,517
 Financing and interest  2,548  40,276
 Depreciation and accretion  573  213
 Research and development  -  2
    11,330  49,412
Gain on sale of assets  347  -
Loss before income taxes  (5,033)  (49,286)
Current income tax expense   3,029  91,146
Future income tax expense (recovery)  (16,105)  (57,706)
Earnings (loss) before the following  8,043  (82,726)
Equity loss on investments  (1,574)  -
Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) $ 6,469 $ (82,726)

Interest and other income increased in Q4 2010 due to greater investment earnings on the higher cash and short term investment balances 
from the IPO and PetroChina proceeds. General and administrative costs decreased in Q4 2010 compared to Q4 2009 as the prior period 
included $1.5 million in costs relating to the PetroChina Transaction. While 2010 had higher staffing levels than 2009, this was offset by the 
reimbursement of staff costs for those employees seconded to Dover OpCo. Financing and interest costs are lower in the fourth quarter of 2010 
as 2009 included a $28.0 million pre-payment penalty on the senior secured notes as well as higher interest on the notes than the PetroChina 
Loans. The Q4 2010 gain on sale of assets represents a post closing adjustment on the PetroChina Transaction. Current tax in Q4 2010 
represented the expected carry back of non-capital losses and the future tax recovery related to a change in assumed rate regarding the use of 
tax pools. The 2009 current tax expense arose in connection with certain partnership interests being transferred within the corporate group of 
entities. The prior period future income tax recovery related to differences between the tax and book values of assets held for sale.

The following table summarizes the consolidated capital expenditures made by the Company for the three months ended December 31, 2010 
and 2009: 

Quarter Ended December 31,  2010  2009

Mineral properties – acquisitions and rentals $ 87,919 $ 209
Exploration and evaluation - delineation drilling  17,478  9,406
Exploration and evaluation - geological and geophysical  3,241  1,213
Engineering and development  12,198  161
Corporate assets  203  334
Capital expenditures included in property and equipment  121,039  11,323
Capital expenditures included in assets held for sale  -  7,268
Expenditures included in investment   9,104  -
Total capital expenditures $ 130,143 $ 18,591

Q4 2010 mineral property spending was associated with the acquisition of mineral resource lands focused on a new area of interest and for 
the Excelsior acquisition. Excluding mineral properties, capital spending on property and equipment in the fourth quarter of 2010 increased 
to $33.1 million from $15.5 million in 2009. Included in the 2009 spending amount is $4.8 million Athabasca spent on their 40% share of  
Dover & MacKay River. The spending increase is due to the acquisition of strategic infrastructure in the Dover West area, the larger winter 
drilling program as well as the experimental tests to be conducted in Dover West.
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Quarterly Summary
The following table summarizes selected consolidated financial information for the Company for the preceding eight quarters: 

  2010 2009

  Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Revenue 5,950 4,279 3,207 1,022 126 160 916 1,360
Net income (loss) 6,469 (7,240) (6,284) 1,484,498 (82,726) 26,063 (6,012) (12,977)
Net income (loss)         
 per share - basic 0.02 (0.02) (0.02) 6.38 (0.39) 0.13 (0.03) (0.07)
Net income (loss) 
 per share - diluted 0.02 (0.02) (0.02) 6.32 (0.39) 0.09 (0.03) (0.07)

Revenue decreased from Q1 2009 to Q4 2009 with declining cash balances earning less interest. Revenue increased in Q1 and Q2 2010 with 
investment income on the proceeds from the PetroChina Transaction and IPO. Revenue continued to rise in Q3 and Q4 with higher interest 
rates received on cash and short term investments. Net income and net income per share during Q3 of 2009 results from a future income tax 
recovery on assets held for sale. Net loss and net loss per share during Q4 of 2009 was due to higher financing costs related to the accrual of 
a pre-payment penalty on the Company’s senior secured notes, a decrease in the net income tax recovery, higher stock-based compensation 
charges resulting from amendments to existing grants, and higher general and administrative costs due to the PetroChina Transaction and 
additional employees. Net income and net income per share in Q1 of 2010 was due to the $1.65 billion gain on the PetroChina Transaction. The 
Company recorded net losses in Q2 and Q3 2010 as general and administrative and other expenses exceeded investment income. The net 
income in Q4 was due mostly to a future income tax recovery.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
Working Capital 
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 were as follows: 

     Term (Days) Interest Rate (%)  Amount

As at December 31, 2010    
 Cash      1.00 - 1.24 $ 243,504
 Cash equivalents    62 - 90  1.41 - 1.47  226,000
         469,504
 Short-term investments    91 - 367  0.73 - 1.71  1,334,028
 TOTAL       $ 1,803,532

As at December 31, 2009        
 Cash      0.25 - 0.40 $ 140,992
 Total       $ 140,992

On February 10, 2010, the Company closed the PetroChina Transaction and received a cash payment of $1.90 billion. Upon completion of the 
PetroChina Transaction, the senior secured notes were redeemed. See “Long-term Debt” below. 

On March 22, 2010 the Company paid a special dividend of $4.25 per common share, resulting in an aggregate dividend of approximately 
$1.33 billion. 

On April 8, 2010, the Company completed the IPO and received net cash proceeds of approximately $1.26 billion.

At December 31, 2010, the Company had working capital of $1.80 billion, consisting of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. 
The interest rate on amounts invested in cash, cash equivalents and short term investment accounts as of December 31, 2010 ranges from  
0.73% to 1.71%.

Management believes the Company’s working capital at December 31, 2010, combined with amounts available under PetroChina Loan #2 
(and, if the Put/Call Options are not exercised, PetroChina Loan #3), are sufficient to fund the Company’s expenditures into 2014 based on 
management’s current plans. Until required, excess cash will be invested in low risk investments such as bankers’ acceptances with a focus on 
capital preservation. 
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Long-term Debt 
The financing arrangements that comprise a part of the PetroChina Transaction include the advance of PetroChina Loan #1 to the Company to 
repay the senior secured notes which were outstanding as of December 31, 2009. PetroChina International Subco provided the Company with 
a non-revolving loan facility of $430.0 million, all of which was used to repay the Company’s senior secured notes and related costs under the 
senior secured note indenture, including the principal amount of $400.0 million, an early redemption premium of $28.0 million, and a portion 
of the accrued interest. Interest on PetroChina Loan #1 is payable semi-annually on June 30 and December 31 at a rate equal to LIBOR plus 450 
basis points. If the Put/Call Options are not exercised, PetroChina Loan #1, on a pro rata basis with PetroChina Loan #2 and PetroChina Loan 
#3, if applicable, is repayable from 90% of cash flow (as provided for in the PetroChina loan agreements) of the MacKay River joint venture and 
Dover joint venture, and any amount remaining outstanding on June 30, 2022 is required to be repaid in full at that time.

The financing arrangements that comprise a part of the PetroChina Transaction also include the provision of PetroChina Loan #2 and PetroChina 
Loan #3 to the Company to provide up to $100 million and up to $560 million, respectively, for certain initial development expenditures on 
the MacKay River joint venture and Dover joint venture projects. At December 31, 2010, the Company had drawn $19.7 million on PetroChina 
Loan #2. Interest on both loans is payable semi-annually on June 30 and December 31 at a rate equal to LIBOR plus 450 basis points. If the  
Put/Call Options are not exercised, the amounts drawn on both loans, on a pro rata basis with PetroChina Loan #1, are repayable from 90% 
of cash flow (as provided for in the PetroChina Loan agreements) of the MacKay River joint venture and Dover joint venture and any amount 
remaining outstanding under either loan on June 30, 2024 is required to be repaid in full at that time. PetroChina Loan #3 is only available if the 
MacKay River oil sands project approval is obtained and the Put/Call Options are not exercised. 

Equity Instruments 
The April 8, 2010 IPO resulted in 75.0 million common shares being issued for cash proceeds of approximately $1.26 billion, net of 
commissions and other costs relating to the issue aggregating approximately $87.5 million. As part of the Excelsior acquisition which closed on  
November 9, 2010, 9.3 million common shares and 3.5 million replacement warrants were issued to previous Excelsior securityholders. In 
December 2010, 1.6 million common shares were issued to acquire the remaining minority interest in the Excelsior Hangingstone lands. During 
the year ended December 31, 2010, purchase warrants were exercised for proceeds of $133.1 million – $121.6 million from warrants outstanding 
at December 31, 2009 and $11.5 million from Excelsior replacement warrants.

On December 20, 2010 Athabasca filed notice to make a Normal Course Issuer Bid (“the Bid”) to purchase, from time to time, up to 10.0 million 
common shares on the open market. No shares have been purchased to date through the Bid.

Commitments 
The following table summarizes the Company’s commitments as at December 31, 2010:

  2011  2012  2013  2014  2015  Thereafter  Total

Debt repayment (1)  $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 449,736 $ 449,736
Interest payments on debt(2)   25,779  25,779  25,779  25,779  25,779  169,825  298,720
Office leases   2,476  2,448  1,112  480  480  440  7,436
Purchase commitments   7,490  -  -  -  -  -  7,490
Equity investee commitments(3)   925  338  113  -  -  -  1,376
Other   700  533  200  -  -  -  1,433
TOTAL COMMITMENTS  $ 37,370 $ 29,098 $ 27,204 $ 26,259 $ 26,259 $ 620,001 $ 766,191

(1)  Assumes the PetroChina Transaction Put/Call Option Agreements are not exercised.

(2)  Based on interest rate effective and balance outstanding on December 31, 2010.

(3)  Represents Athabasca’s 40% share of commitments entered into by Dover OpCo.

Athabasca is responsible for the retirement of its resource assets at the end of their useful lives. Asset retirement obligations of $24.4 million 
have been recognized at December 31, 2010. The payments to settle these obligations are expected to occur during a period of up to 15 years. 
The total undiscounted amount of estimated cash flows required to settle the obligations as at December 31, 2010 is $71.9 million. These 
amounts are excluded from the table above.
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
The Company has certain lease and industry group agreements, all of which are reflected in the table above under the heading “Commitments,” 
which were entered into in the normal course of operations. The leases, which have been treated as operating leases, and industry group 
commitments have been treated as general and administrative expenses. No asset or liability value has been assigned to these agreements on 
the Company’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2010. The Company has no other off balance sheet arrangements.

Outstanding Share Data 
The following table summarizes the number of share capital instruments outstanding at the date indicated: 

 As At February 28, 2011

Common shares (1)    400,642,687
Convertible securities:    
 Stock options outstanding – exercisable and unexercisable    3,305,300
 Restricted share units outstanding – exercisable and unexercisable    810,800
 Warrants    2,176,785

(1)  Includes 1,752,038 common shares held in trust which are contingently returnable to the Company if length of service requirements are not met.

Capital Management 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to pursue the acquisition, exploration and development 
of its resource properties or potential other business and to maintain a flexible capital structure to undertake projects for the benefit of its 
stakeholders. The Company considers the items included in shareholders’ equity, long-term debt and bank debt as capital. The Company is 
currently in the development stage and earns no operating revenue; as such the Company is dependent on existing working capital and external 
financing to fund its activities. 

Capital managed by the Company as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

As at December 31,  2010  2009

Senior secured notes (1) $ - $ 398,996
PetroChina Loan #1  430,000  -
PetroChina Loan #2  19,736  -
Shareholders’ equity  2,032,120  172,054
CAPITAL MANAGED $ 2,481,856 $ 571,050

(1) Immediately following the closing of the PetroChina Transaction, the senior secured notes were redeemed with the proceeds of PetroChina Loan #1. 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes to economic conditions and risk characteristics of 
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, subject to restrictions in the PetroChina Loan Agreements, the Company may issue 
new shares, acquire or dispose of assets, obtain or repay debt, or enter into joint exploration and development arrangements. 

To facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares annual expenditure budgets that are updated as necessary 
and which are approved by the Board of Directors. Longer term financial models are also utilized to schedule and forecast anticipated cash 
requirements. Excess cash is invested in accordance with an investment policy, which is reviewed periodically, thereby ensuring that cash is 
invested in liquid short-term interest-bearing investments, possessing pre-approved risk profiles, and is available as required. There were no 
changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended December 31, 2010 other than the issue of the PetroChina 
Loans and associated covenants.

The Company is subject to certain non-financial covenants in the PetroChina Loan agreements and is in compliance with all such covenants.

Financial Instruments 
The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows: 

Financial Assets and Liabilities    Classification

Cash and cash equivalents    Held-for-trading
Short-term investments    Held-for-trading
Accounts receivable Loans and receivables
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities
Long-term debt Other financial liabilities
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Fair Value 
The carrying values of Athabasca’s financial instruments approximate their fair value due to their short term or variable interest nature. As at 
December 31, 2010 no financial assets or liabilities were measured at fair value aside from cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. 

The Company’s risk exposure associated with its financial instruments is summarized below.

Credit Risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and accounts 
receivable on the consolidated balance sheets. 

As at December 31, 2010, 71% of the Company’s consolidated accounts receivable balance is related to accrued interest on cash and cash 
equivalents and short-term investments which are invested with large reputable Canadian regulated financial institutions. The amounts 
outstanding are considered current based on the terms of the investments. Management believes the remaining 29% of accounts receivable is 
with high quality counterparties and does not consider any material amount past due based on the terms with the counterparties.

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments held by the Company are invested with counterparties meeting credit quality 
requirements and issuer and concentration limits pursuant to an investment policy that is periodically reviewed by the Audit Committee. The 
policy emphasizes security of assets over investment yield. At December 31, 2010, the Company was invested in bankers’ depository notes, 
term deposits and bankers’ acceptances with large reputable Canadian financial institutions as well as Government of Canada treasury bills. 
Therefore, the Company’s management believes that credit risk associated with these investments is low.

Liquidity Risk 
The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient available reserves to meet its liquidity requirements at any point. The 
Company achieves this by managing its capital spending and maintaining sufficient funds in cash and cash equivalent accounts.

Management believes the Company’s remaining working capital is sufficient to fund the Company’s expenditures into 2014 based on current 
plans. Excess cash will be invested in accordance with the Company’s investment policy.

The Company’s outstanding financial liabilities mature within one year, with the exception of the Company’s loans with PetroChina. 

The Company is required to repay PetroChina Loans #1 and #2 in full on the earlier of June 30, 2022, and June 30, 2024, respectively, or a 
change of control of the Company or the date the Put/Call Options are exercised by either the Company or PetroChina International Subco. 
Before maturity, the loans will be repaid on a pro rata basis with indebtedness under the remaining PetroChina Loans from 90% of cash flow  
(as provided in the PetroChina loan agreements) of the MacKay River and Dover entities.

Interest Rate Risk 
The Company’s exposure at December 31, 2010 to interest charged on the outstanding PetroChina Loan balances, from a 1% change in interest 
rates, would be approximately $4.5 million for a twelve month period. The Company’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations on interest earned on 
the ending cash and variable rate short-term investment balance of $478.4 million, from a 1% change in interest rates, would be approximately 
$4.8 million for a twelve month period. 

Put/Call Options Related to MacKay River and Dover 
Detailed below are the Put/Call Options over the Company’s remaining 40% interest in Dover and MacKay River that were included as part 
of the PetroChina Transaction. Management of the Company has conducted a review of the value of each of the Put/Call Option listed below 
and has determined that the net value of the Put/Call Options at the inception of the Put/Call Option Agreement was nil. Additionally, the  
Put/Call Option Agreements will not be re-measured at each reporting date due to the numerous variables that may not be reliably measured 
when computing the value of the Put/Call Options. If any of the Put/Call Options are exercised, the proceeds must be used to repay any 
amounts outstanding under the loan agreements.

MacKay River Put Option
PetroChina International Subco has granted to the Company the right, exercisable at the Company’s option within 30 days following receipt 
of MacKay River oil sands project approval, to require PetroChina International Subco to acquire the shares or assets of AOSC (MacKay)  
Energy Inc. (“AOSC (MacKay)”) for a purchase price of $680.0 million if exercised in 2011 or 2012, $646.0 million if exercised in 2013,  
$612.0 million if exercised in 2014 and a 0.9 multiple of the fair market value of the assets or shares, as applicable, if exercised after 2014. 
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Dover Put Option
PetroChina International Subco has granted to the Company the right, exercisable at the Company’s option within 30 days following receipt of 
Dover oil sands project approval, if the MacKay River put/call option is exercised, to require PetroChina International Subco to acquire the shares 
or assets of AOSC (Dover) Energy Inc. (“AOSC (Dover)”)for a purchase price of $1.32 billion if exercised in 2011 or 2012, $1.25 billion if exercised 
in 2013, $1.19 billion if exercised in 2014 and a 0.9 multiple of the fair market value of the assets or shares, as applicable, if exercised after 2014.

MacKay River Call Options
The Company has granted to PetroChina International Subco the right, exercisable at PetroChina International Subco’s option, to acquire the 
shares of AOSC (MacKay) in the following circumstances, for the applicable purchase price:

(a) within 30 days following receipt of MacKay River oil sands project approval, for a purchase price of $680.0 million if exercised in 2011 or 
2012, $646.0 million if exercised in 2013, $612.0 million if exercised in 2014 and a 0.9 multiple of the fair market value of the shares of 
AOSC ( MacKay) if exercised after 2014;

(b) within four business days following December 31 in any calendar year commencing 2012 and provided the MacKay oil sands project 
approval has not occurred prior thereto, for a purchase price of $680.0 million if exercised in 2013, $612.0 million if exercised in 2014, 
$544.0 million if exercised in 2015 and a 0.8 multiple of the fair market value of the shares of AOSC (MacKay) if exercised after 2015; and

(c) within 60 days following the receipt of notice of the occurrence of an insolvency event or change of control of the Company or  
AOSC (MacKay) or AOSC (Dover), for a purchase price of $680.0 million.

Dover Call Options
Except as set forth below, provided that the MacKay River put/call option has been exercised, the Company has granted to PetroChina 
International Subco the right, exercisable at PetroChina International Subco’s option, to acquire the shares of AOSC (Dover) in the following 
circumstances, for the applicable purchase price:

(a) within 30 days following receipt of Dover oil sands project approval, for a purchase price of $1.32 billion if exercised in 2011 or 2012,  
$1.25 billion if exercised in 2013, $1.19 billion if exercised in 2014 and a 0.9 multiple of the fair market value of the shares of AOSC (Dover) 
if exercised after 2014;

(b) within four business days following December 31 in any calendar year commencing 2012 and provided the MacKay oil sands project 
approval has not occurred prior thereto (and, except for the option exercisable following December 31, 2012, concurrently with the exercise 
of the corresponding MacKay call option by PetroChina International Subco), for a purchase price of $1.32 billion if exercised in 2013,  
$1.19 billion if exercised in 2014, $1.06 billion if exercised in 2015, and a 0.8 multiple of the fair market value of the shares of AOSC (Dover) 
if exercised after 2015; and

(c) within 60 days following receipt of notice of the occurrence of an insolvency event or change of control of the Company or AOSC (MacKay) 
or AOSC (Dover), for a purchase price of $1.32 billion.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Critical Accounting Policies
Capital Assets – Full Cost Accounting and Impairment
The Company follows the full cost method of accounting. The Company capitalizes costs associated with its resource activities, including 
lease acquisition costs, exploratory drilling to delineate resource plays, geological and geophysical costs, engineering, licensing and 
regulatory fees, carrying charges on non-productive assets and employee salaries and stock-based compensation related to exploration and  
development activities. 

The Company is in the early stages of developing its assets and production has not yet commenced, therefore no depletion or depreciation has 
been recorded with respect to the related capitalized expenditures to date, with the exception of corporate assets. Once commercial production 
begins, capitalized costs will be depleted using the unit-of-production method or depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset if the 
useful life differs from the reserve life.
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Each reporting period the carrying value of the Company’s unproved resource assets are assessed to determine if there are events or 
circumstances that would indicate impairment. If an impairment indicator exists and the carrying value is deemed unlikely to be recovered 
when compared to the estimated discounted future cash flows, the excess of those costs over the recoverable value of the assets is charged to 
net income (loss). The calculation of the estimated discounted future cash flows is based on a number of estimates including, but not limited to, 
resource volumes, production rates, commodity prices, timing of activities, future development costs, and other variables.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements reflect the activities of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and 
balances are eliminated upon consolidation. The Company accounts for its investment in the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures as an 
equity investment in accordance with the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Accounting Guideline 15 (AcG-15), 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” and CICA Handbook section 3051, “Investments.” AcG-15 requires a variable interest entity (VIE) 
to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary, which is the party that will absorb the majority of the VIE’s expected losses, receive a majority of 
the VIE’s expected residual returns, or both. A VIE is any type of legal structure not controlled by voting equity, but rather by contractual or other 
financial arrangements. Due to the existence of the put/call options, the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures are variable interest entities.

Management has made an assessment under the AcG-15 and determined that the Company is not the primary beneficiary in the MacKay River 
and Dover joint ventures. The MacKay River and Dover joint ventures are investments in which the Company has significant influence and are 
accounted for as long-term investments using the equity method of accounting whereby the carrying value of the investment is increased or 
decreased for the Company’s percentage of net income or loss, reduced by dividends paid to the Company, and increased or decreased to reflect 
the Company’s share of capital transactions. 

Stock-based Compensation
The Company’s stock-based compensation plans for employees, directors, and consultants consist of stock options and restricted share units. 
Athabasca also has issued and outstanding in-trust incentive shares and nominally priced stock options granted under legacy plans. At the 
grant date the Company uses the fair value method to account for securities issued as part of its stock-based compensation plans. The fair 
value is recorded as stock-based compensation using the appropriate estimated amortization period with a corresponding amount reflected in 
contributed surplus. When stock options are exercised, the cash proceeds along with the amount previously recorded as contributed surplus 
are recorded as share capital.

For employees and consultants who are working on specific capital projects, the stock-based compensation is allocated to property and 
equipment. For the remainder of employees, the fair value of the cost is expensed.

Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company accounts for asset retirement obligations (“ARO”) using the CICA Handbook section 3110, “Asset Retirement Obligations”. The 
estimated fair value of the statutory, contractual or legal liability associated with the retirement and reclamation of tangible long-lived assets 
is recorded when incurred, with a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related assets, when a reasonable estimate of the fair 
value can be made. The increase to capitalized costs is amortized to net earnings (loss) on a basis consistent with depletion, depreciation, and 
accretion (“DD&A”) of the underlying assets. On a periodic basis, management will review these estimates and changes, if any, in the estimated 
fair value of the ARO will be capitalized to property and equipment and amortized over the remaining useful life of the underlying asset. The 
ARO liabilities are carried on the consolidated balance sheets at their discounted present value and are accreted over time for the change in their 
present value, with this accretion charge included in DD&A. Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the accumulated obligation. Any 
difference between the recorded ARO and the actual retirement costs incurred is recorded as a gain or loss in the settlement period. 

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method. Under this method, the Company records a future income tax asset or 
liability to reflect any difference between the accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using substantively enacted income tax rates. 
The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in net income or loss in the period in which the change occurs. 
Future income tax assets are only recognized to the extent it is more likely than not that sufficient future taxable income will be available to allow 
the future income tax asset to be realized.

Measurement Uncertainty and Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in compliance with Canadian GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the applicable period. 
These estimates relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and may differ from actual 
results as future confirming events occur.
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Amounts used for impairment calculations are based on estimates of oil sands reserves and resources, future commodity prices and future costs 
required to develop reserves and resources. The fair value calculation of ARO is based upon numerous assumptions and judgments including 
the ultimate settlement amounts, inflation factors, credit-adjusted discount rates, timing of settlement and changes in the legal, regulatory, 
environmental and political environments. The provision for income taxes is based on judgments in applying income tax law and estimates 
on the timing, likelihood and reversal of temporary differences between the accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Stock-based 
compensation is based upon expected volatility, option life estimates and, for the period before the Company was publicly traded, share price 
estimates. The net value of the put/call options cannot be reliably measured given uncertainty around receiving regulatory approval for Dover 
and MacKay River projects, the timing of any such approval, the projects’ reserves and resources and related future cash flow estimates, the 
likelihood of either party exercising their options and the tax effect of exercise. All of these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty 
and changes in these estimates could materially affect the financial results of future periods.

Future Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2009, the CICA issued a new accounting standard, Section 1582, “Business Combinations”, which prospectively establishes principles 
and requirements of the acquisition method for business combinations and related disclosures that will be effective for the Company’s 2011 
reporting. These standards are effective for business combinations occurring after January 1, 2011, although early adoption is permitted. The 
Company will adopt the new standard in 2011 with the adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The adoption of these 
recommendations is not expected to have a material impact on the Company.

In January 2009, the CICA issued new accounting standards, section 1601, “Consolidated Financial Statements”, and section 1602,  
“Non-controlling Interests”, which together replace section 1600, “Consolidated Financial Statements”. These standards are effective on or after 
the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with earlier application permitted. The Company will 
adopt these new standards in 2011 with the adoption of IFRS. Section 1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements. Section 1602 provides guidance on accounting for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary subsequent to a business combination. 
Had the company adopted these sections early, the investments in Dover & MacKay River would have been revalued to their fair value of over 
$1.2 billion on the close of the PetroChina Transaction. There would also have been an increase in the future income tax liability of $0.2 billion 
with both changes recognized in the income statement.

International Financial Reporting Standards
In February 2008, Canada’s Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) confirmed the changeover to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) for publicly accountable enterprises effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The changeover to IFRS represents 
a change to new accounting standards. The transition from current Canadian GAAP to IFRS is a significant undertaking which will materially 
affect the Company’s reported financial position and results of operations. 

The Company has created an IFRS Transition Plan (“IFRS Plan”). The first phase of the IFRS Plan was to perform a diagnostic review, the 
purpose of which was to analyze, identify and assess the overall effort required by the Company to produce financial information on an IFRS 
basis. Areas which would likely be significantly impacted by the adoption of IFRS were identified and a qualitative overview of likely financial 
statement impacts and potential difficulties with systems or processes which may arise when addressing the differences between IFRS and 
current Canadian GAAP were performed. The first phase of the IFRS Plan was completed in March 2009. 

This second phase involved the preparation of a work plan by internal staff, in coordination with an external IFRS consulting firm, for the areas 
of significance identified in the first phase. Component evaluations for each significant area were drafted. Each component evaluation consists 
of (i) summary of Canadian GAAP as currently used; (ii) definition of IFRS accounting policies for the component; (iii) narrative summarization 
of differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS; (iv) identification of issues or data gaps to be dealt with; (v) summary of action items and 
identification of interdependencies with other components. The second phase also included the identification of communication and training 
needs as well as required changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The second phase of the IFRS Plan was completed 
in the fourth quarter of 2010.

The third phase of the IFRS Plan, which started in parallel with the second phase, is to analyze and aggregate the Company’s IFRS financial 
data, while modifying existing financial reporting processes and controls to capture data to allow for new financial reporting requirements. The 
third phase also includes the preparation of the IFRS opening balance sheet with corresponding adjustments as well as 2010 IFRS comparative 
information. In addition to the external IFRS consulting firm, the Company is also coordinating with its external auditors on all IFRS policies and 
adjustments. The third phase is progressing on target. As at the date of this MD&A, the Company has drafted the IFRS opening balance sheet 
and has determining adjustments to the first three quarters of 2010 comparative information. Once the fourth quarter comparative information 
is drafted, additional and/or modified internal controls over IFRS financial reporting will be put in place to be operation in 2011.
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First-Time Adoption of IFRS
IFRS 1, “First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards,” provides the framework for the first-time adoption of IFRS. 
Retrospective application of IFRS is generally required for all balances, but a number of optional and mandatory exemptions are available under 
IFRS 1. The Company has preliminarily decided not to take the full-cost accounting election available under IFRS 1 for its resource assets, which 
means IFRS will be retrospectively applied for these assets. 

The adoption of IFRS requires the preparation of an opening balance sheet as at January 1, 2010 which is the basis from which to prepare 
IFRS financial information going forward (the “Opening Balance Sheet”). The Company has prepared a draft Opening Balance Sheet based 
on preliminary accounting policy choices and information available at the present time. Circumstances and IFRS accounting standards could 
change before the end of 2011 that may cause Athabasca to select different accounting policies and/or IFRS 1 exemptions. Athabasca’s Opening 
Balance Sheet is expected to have the following differences from Canadian GAAP:

Exploration and Evaluation (“E&E”) Expenditures
Upon transition to IFRS, the Company will re-classify E&E expenditures currently included in property and equipment. E&E assets will consist 
of expenditures such as, but not limited to, land acquisition, delineation drilling and seismic data acquisition. E&E assets are not depleted and 
are assessed for impairment when indicators of impairment exist. All of the Company’s projects are currently in the E&E phase. On transition, 
$331.3 million of Athabasca’s total $332.9 million in property and equipment is expected to be E&E.

Borrowing Costs
E&E assets are not considered to be qualifying assets under IFRS. As a result, borrowing costs cannot be capitalized while these assets are being 
evaluated. On transition Athabasca anticipates $28.8 million in capitalized interest will be removed from the Opening Balance Sheet as a result 
of this change.

Other Adjustments
Other IFRS adjustments anticipated in the Opening Balance Sheet include the removal of costs incurred before the legal right to explore was 
obtained (pre license costs), the de-recognition of assets not permitted by IFRS, an upwards adjustment to the asset retirement obligation 
resulting from using a lower discount rate and the deferred income tax impact of all accounting adjustments.

Cumulative Impact
The cumulative increase in deficit on transition to IFRS is anticipated to be $34.8 million, which is mostly from the removal of $28.8 million in 
borrowing costs but also includes the other adjustments noted above offset by a reduction in deferred income taxes.

Stock-based Compensation
IFRS 1 allows for an exemption on IFRS 2, “Share-Based Payments” for equity instruments which have vested prior to transition to IFRS. Athabasca 
anticipates using this exemption.

Anticipated 2010 Impact of Adopting IFRS
The areas of IFRS identified to date that are expected to have an impact on the Company’s 2010 results under IFRS are as follows:

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Loss of Control
Under IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements,” when there is a loss of control of a subsidiary any investment retained in the 
former subsidiary is recognized at fair value at the date when control is lost. As a result of the PetroChina Transaction, the Company’s interests 
in the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures became equity accounted investments which amounts to a loss of control. As a result, the 
investments will be increased to their fair value at the date of the PetroChina Transaction under IFRS. This is anticipated to result in an additional 
$1.1 billion gain in Q1 2010 under IFRS offset by approximately $0.2 billion in additional deferred taxes.

Borrowing Costs
As discussed above, borrowing costs cannot be capitalized in the E&E phase under IFRS. All of these costs capitalized in 2010 under Canadian 
GAAP will be expensed in 2010 under IFRS. For the year ended December 31, 2010 Athabasca capitalized $6.2 million in borrowing costs to 
property and equipment and $4.0 million to equity accounted investments under Canadian GAAP.
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Deferred Taxes
Under IAS 12, “Income Taxes,” a deferred tax liability is not recognized on a temporary difference that arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset when the initial transaction is not a business combination and does not affect accounting or tax profit. The Excelsior acquisition was not 
considered a business combination and thus the $18.1 million future income tax liability recognized under Canadian GAAP will be reversed 
under IFRS with a corresponding decrease to property and equipment. The minority interest in Hangingstone that Athabasca acquired for 
common share consideration in the fourth quarter of 2010 resulted in an $8.2 million future income tax liability under Canadian GAAP that will 
not be recognized as a deferred tax liability under IFRS.

When there is a change in the expected reversal tax rate of a temporary difference under IAS 27, the resulting change is recognized in profit 
or loss except for items previously recognized outside of profit or loss. Canadian GAAP recognizes the change in profit or loss regardless of 
its origin. Athabasca had a change in expected reversal tax rate in Q4 2010 and approximately $1.9 million of the future income tax recovery 
recognized under Canadian GAAP will be recognized directly in equity under IFRS.

Stock-based Compensation
Prior to the first quarter of 2010, the Company did not incorporate estimated volatility in the fair value calculation of stock-based compensation 
costs. The Company also did not estimate a forfeiture rate for equity instruments. Under IFRS, the Company is required to incorporate expected 
volatility and expected forfeiture rates in the fair value calculation of stock-based compensation, which is expected to result in an immaterial net 
increase in stock based compensation expense in 2010 under IFRS.

Impairment of E&E Assets and PP&E
Under IFRS, the Company can choose to evaluate impairment of E&E assets at the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) level or by aggregating a group 
of CGUs. The Company currently does not plan to aggregate CGUs for E&E impairment testing under IFRS. 

Impairment of PP&E is calculated at a more detailed level than what is required under Canadian GAAP. Impairment will be assessed at the CGU 
level under IFRS as opposed to evaluating impairment on a country-wide basis under the full-cost method within Canadian GAAP. A CGU is the 
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates independent cash inflows. Athabasca anticipates that each of its resource projects will be a 
separate CGU. Currently, Athabasca does not anticipate any impairment under IFRS.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
As part of the PetroChina Transaction, Dover OpCo was created to operate the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures. Pursuant to an agreement 
with Dover OpCo, Athabasca was the temporary operator of the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures from February 10, 2010, the closing 
date of the PetroChina Transaction, to May 31, 2010. For the year ended December 31, 2010, Athabasca charged Dover OpCo $1.2 million 
for operating the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures and recorded the charges as a reduction in general and administration expenses. In 
addition, Athabasca has seconded staff to Dover OpCo under the PetroChina Transaction Agreements and some members of Athabasca’s 
staff are utilized by Dover OpCo under a shared services agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2010 Athabasca charged Dover OpCo  
$3.6 million to recover the costs of these seconded and shared service staff. These transactions were in the normal course of operations 
and were measured at the exchange amount. The charges are recorded as a reduction in general and administrative expense. As at  
December 31, 2010, accounts receivable included $0.2 million owing from Dover OpCo for staff discussed above.

A director of the Company is a principal with an investment dealer. During 2010 Athabasca paid $5.0 million to this firm - $3.3 million in 
underwriting fees in connection with the IPO, $1.0 million in advisory costs relating to the PetroChina Transaction and $0.7 million in advisory 
costs relating to the Excelsior acquisition. These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange 
amount. No amounts were owing to the investment dealer at the end of the year.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in reports filed 
with, or submitted to, securities regulatory authorities is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified 
under Canadian securities law. As of the year ended December 31, 2010, an evaluation was carried out under the supervision of and with the 
participation of Athabasca’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design 
and operations of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer concluded that the design and operation of these disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that information required 
to be disclosed by Athabasca in reports that it files with or submits under applicable securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time periods required.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management of Athabasca is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is 
defined in the rules of the Canadian Securities Administrators. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed 
under the supervision and with the participation of executive and financial officers to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets 
of the Company;

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
GAAP; and

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Athabasca’s internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements because of inherent limitations. A control 
system, no matter how well conceived or operated, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control 
system are met. Additionally, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with the Company’s policies and procedures. Given 
the IPO, 2010 is the first year Athabasca fully implemented and tested a system of internal control over financial reporting. Management, 
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the framework established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, management concluded that the Company 
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010. There were no changes in the internal control over 
financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2010 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

RISK FACTORS
Factors currently influencing the Company’s ability to succeed include, but are not limited to, the following:

• Fluctuations in market prices of crude oil and bitumen blend

• Variations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates

• Uncertainties associated with estimating reserves and resources volumes

• Status and stage of development

• Bitumen recovery processes

• Development schedules and cost over-runs

• Availability of drilling equipment and access

• Reliance on, competition for, loss of and failure to attract key personnel

• Substantial capital requirements

• Regulatory approvals and compliance

• Environmental risks and hazards

• Environmental regulation compliance 

• Changes to royalty and income tax regimes

For additional information regarding the risks and uncertainties to which the Company and its business are subject, please see the information 
under the headings “Forward Looking Information” below, and under the heading “Notice to Investors - Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk 
Factors” in the Company’s prospectus dated March 30, 2010, and the Company’s other continuous disclosure filings, which are available on the 
SEDAR website at www.sedar.com including the Company’s most recent Annual Information Form to be filed by March 31, 2011.
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FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION
This MD&A contains forward-looking information that involves various risks, uncertainties and other factors. All information other than 
statements of historical fact is forward-looking information. The use of any of the words “anticipate”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, 
“may”, “will”, “project”, “should”, “believe”, “predict”, “pursue” and “potential” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking 
information. The forward-looking information is not historical fact, but rather is based on the Company’s current plans, objectives, goals, 
strategies, estimates, assumptions and projections about the Company’s industry, business and future financial results. This information 
involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those 
anticipated in such forward-looking information. No assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-
looking information included in this MD&A should not be unduly relied upon. This information speaks only as of the date of this MD&A. In 
particular, this MD&A may contain forward-looking information pertaining to the following: the Company’s capital expenditure programs; the 
estimated quantity of the Company’s Probable and Possible Reserves and Contingent Resources; the Company’s drilling plans; the Company’s 
plans for, and results of, exploration and development activities; the Company’s estimated future commitments; process and timing of 
implementation of IFRS; proposed experimental testing in the Dover West area and the results therefrom; business plans; development of the 
Company’s oil sands projects; timing of facilities construction and production; targeted production; timing of submission of project commercial 
applications; estimated initial and full production of the Company’s projects; Athabasca’s plans with respect to the Birch, Hangingstone and 
other assets; Athabasca’s plans with respect to the assets acquired from Excelsior and the expected benefits to be received by Athabasca from 
such assets; the pro-forma effect of the Excelsior acquisition on Athabasca’s resources and undeveloped land position; and the timing for receipt 
of regulatory approvals. With respect to forward-looking information contained in this MD&A, assumptions have been made regarding, among 
other things: the Company’s ability to obtain qualified staff and equipment in a timely and cost-efficient manner; the regulatory framework 
governing royalties, taxes and environmental matters in the jurisdictions in which the Company conducts and will conduct its business; the 
applicability of technologies for the recovery and production of the Company’s reserves and resources; future capital expenditures to be made 
by the Company; future sources of funding for the Company’s capital programs; the Company’s future debt levels; geological and engineering 
estimates in respect of the Company’s reserves and resources; the geography of the areas in which the Company is conducting exploration and 
development activities; the impact that the PetroChina Transaction will have on the Company, including on the Company’s financial condition 
and results of operations; and the Company’s ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms. Actual results could differ materially from those 
anticipated in this forward-looking information as a result of the risk factors set forth above and under the headings “Notice to Investors 
-Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” in the Company’s prospectus dated March 30, 2010, and the Company’s other continuous 
disclosure filings including the Company’s most recent Annual Information Form to be filed by March 31, 2011, which are available on the SEDAR 
website at www.sedar.com, including: fluctuations in market prices for crude oil and bitumen blend; general economic, market and business 
conditions; dependence on PetroChina International Subco as the joint venture participant in the MacKay River and Dover oil sands projects; 
variations in foreign exchange and interest rates; factors affecting potential profitability; uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of 
reserves and resources; Athabasca’s status and stage of development; uncertainties inherent in Steam Assisted Gravity Drainage (“SAGD”), 
Cyclic Steam Stimulation (“CSS”) and other bitumen recovery processes; the potential impact of the exercise of the Put/Call Options on the 
Company; failure to meet the conditions precedent to the exercise by the Company of the Put/Call Options, including failure to receive regulatory 
approval for the MacKay River, Dover or other oil sands projects when anticipated or at all; failure to obtain necessary regulatory approvals for 
completion of the Put/Call Option transactions on the terms and conditions set forth in the Put/Call Option Agreement; failure to meet 
development schedules and potential cost overruns; increases in operating costs can make projects uneconomic; the effect of diluent and 
natural gas supply constraints and increases in the costs thereof; gas over bitumen issues affecting operational results; the potential for adverse 
consequences in the event that the Company defaults under certain of the PetroChina Transaction Agreements; environmental risks and hazards 
and the cost of compliance with environmental regulations, including greenhouse gas regulations and potential Canadian and U.S. climate 
change legislation; failure to obtain or retain key personnel; the substantial capital requirements of the Company’s projects; the need to obtain 
regulatory approvals and maintain compliance with regulatory requirements; extent of, and cost of compliance with, government laws and 
regulations and the effect of changes in such laws and regulations from time to time; changes to royalty regimes; political risks; failure to 
accurately estimate abandonment and reclamation costs; risks inherent in the Company’s operations, including those related to exploration, 
development and production of oil sands reserves and resources, including the production of oil sands reserves and resources using SAGD, CSS 
or other in-situ technologies; the potential for management estimates and assumptions to be inaccurate; long term reliance on third parties; 
reliance on third party infrastructure for project facilities; failure by counterparties (including without limitation PetroChina International and 
PetroChina International Subco) to make payments or perform their operational or other obligations to the Company in compliance with the 
terms of contractual arrangements between the Company and such counterparties and the possible consequences thereof; the potential lack of 
available drilling equipment and limitations on access to the Company’s assets; aboriginal claims; seasonality; hedging risks; risks associated 
with establishing and maintaining systems of internal controls; insurance risks; claims made in respect of the Company’s operations, properties 
or assets; the potential for adverse consequences as a result of the change of control provisions in the PetroChina Transaction Agreements; 
competition for, among other things, capital, the acquisition of reserves and resources, export pipeline capacity and skilled personnel; the failure 
of the Company or the holder of certain licenses or leases to meet specific requirements of such licenses or leases; risks arising from future 
acquisition activities; risks relating to the reliance on historical and pro forma financial information, including that historical financial information 
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does not reflect the added costs that the Company expects to incur as a public entity; volatility in the market price of the common shares; the 
effect that the issuance of additional securities by the Company could have on the market price of the common shares; incorrect assessment of 
the value of the Excelsior acquisition; failure to realize the anticipated benefits of the Excelsior acquisition; and risks relating to the Company’s 
dividend policy. In addition, information and statements in this MD&A relating to “reserves” and “resources” are deemed to be forward-looking 
information, as they involve the implied assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions, that the reserves and resources described 
exist in the quantities predicted or estimated, and that the reserves and resources described can be profitably produced in the future. The 
assumptions relating to the Company’s reserves and resources are contained in the reports of GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd. (“GLJ”) dated 
effective April 30, 2010 and DeGolyer and MacNaughton Canada Limited dated effective April 30, 2010. The risks and uncertainties referred to 
above are described in more detail in Athabasca’s prospectus dated March 30, 2010 and in Athabasca’s Statement of Oil and Gas Reserves Data 
and Other Oil and Gas Information for the Year Ended December 31, 2009, each of which is available on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of risk factors should not be construed as exhaustive. The forward-looking information included in 
this MD&A is expressly qualified by this cautionary statement and is made as of the date of this MD&A. The Company does not undertake any 
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking information except as required by applicable securities laws.

The Company’s financial condition and results of operations discussed in this MD&A will not necessarily be indicative of the Company’s future 
performance, as they reflect the start-up nature of the Company’s activities to date. 

Technology Under Development 
The Company’s resources at its Dover West Leduc Carbonates and Grosmont assets are contained in carbonate reservoirs. SAGD and CSS, 
the proposed in-situ bitumen recovery processes to develop these assets, are considered by GLJ to be “technology under development” in 
carbonate reservoirs. The successful development of the Company’s carbonate reservoirs depends on, among other things, the successful 
development and application of SAGD and CSS or other recovery processes to carbonate reservoirs. Although the technology has been 
developed for application to non-carbonate reservoirs, there are no known successful commercial projects that use SAGD or CSS to recover 
bitumen from carbonate formations and there exists a large range in the expected recoverable volumes, the lower end of which may not be 
economically viable. The principal risks associated with SAGD and CSS recovery in carbonate reservoirs are (i) the possibility of unexpected 
steam channeling which would increase steam requirements resulting in increased costs and potentially reduced economically recoverable 
bitumen volumes, and (ii) potential mechanical operating problems due to production of fines which could cause wellbore plugging and reduced 
bitumen production rates and potential interruption of surface production operations. Although the technical risks associated with “technology 
under development” have been accounted for in the GLJ Report, the timeline for verification of “technology under development” has inherent 
uncertainty. Development will involve significant capital expenditures and a lengthy time to project payout and project payout is not assured. If a 
pilot project and/or the technology under development do not demonstrate potential commerciality in carbonate reservoirs then the Company’s 
projects on these assets may not proceed and this may occur only after significant expenditures have been incurred by the Company. With 
respect to the Company’s Grosmont asset, the Company’s strategy is to continue delineation drilling efforts in the area in order to increase the 
resource base. The Company has not prepared a development plan or timeline for the Grosmont area, and is monitoring industry activity toward 
demonstrating successful development and production methods for the Grosmont Formation.
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Consolidated Financial Statements
MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
To the Shareholders of Athabasca Oil Sands Corp.

Statement of Responsibility
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles and for ensuring that all other financial and operating information presented in this report is consistent with those 
consolidated financial statements.

Independent auditors, appointed by the Audit Committee, have examined the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. They have performed such tests as they considered necessary to enable them to express an opinion that 
the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that Management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control. This 
responsibility is exercised through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has reviewed these consolidated 
financial statements with Management and the auditors and has reported to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has approved the 
consolidated financial statements.

Sveinung Svarte     J.R. (Rob) Harding

Calgary, Canada 
March 1, 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of Athabasca Oil Sands Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Athabasca Oil Sands Corp. (the “Company”), which comprise 
the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive 
income (loss), retained earnings (deficit) and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management of the Company is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 
31, 2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Calgary, Canada 
March 1, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As at December 31, (CDN$ Thousands)  2010   2009

ASSETS (Note 7)    
CURRENT ASSETS    
 Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 469,504 $ 140,992
 Short-term investments (Note 2)  1,334,028  -
 Accounts receivable  7,624  1,062
 Income taxes receivable  9,376  -
 Future income tax asset (Note 9)  3,879  -
 Prepaid expenses and other  293  125
 Assets held for sale (Notes 3 and 9)   -  387,161
    1,824,704  529,340
DEFERRED CHARGES  50  1,003
INVESTMENTS (Note 4)  167,047  -
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Note 6)  575,021  363,240
  $ 2,566,822 $ 893,583

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 21,290 $ 41,231
 Income taxes payable  -  226,194
    21,290  267,425
LONG-TERM DEBT (Note 7)  449,736  398,996
ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS (Note 8)  24,361  506
FUTURE INCOME TAX LIABILITY (Note 9)  39,315  54,602
    534,702  721,529
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
 Common shares (Note 12)  1,947,004  390,377
 Warrants (Note 12)  8,876  -
 Contributed surplus (Note 12)  61,450  47,079
 Retained earnings (deficit)  14,790  (265,402)
    2,032,120  172,054
  $ 2,566,822 $ 893,583

Commitments (Note 14)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Approved by the Board: 

      

William Gallacher     Marshall McRae
Director      Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Year ended December 31, (CDN$ Thousands, except per share amounts)  2010   2009

REVENUE    
 Interest and other income $ 14,459 $ 2,562
EXPENSES    
 General and administrative (Note 15)  14,779  13,892
 Stock-based compensation (Note 13)  12,140  5,410
 Financing and interest   21,122  74,977
 Depreciation and accretion   1,120  418
 Research and development   175  523
    49,336  95,220
Gain on sale of assets (Note 3)  1,645,172  -
Income (loss) before income taxes  1,610,295  (92,658)
Income Taxes (Note 9)    
 Current income tax expense (recovery)  (14,390)  91,146
 Future income tax expense (recovery)  143,286  (108,152)
    128,896  (17,006)
Income (loss) before the following  1,481,399  (75,652)
Equity loss on investments (Note 4)  (3,956)  -
Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) $ 1,477,443 $ (75,652)

    
Basic income (loss) per share (Note 16) $  4.24 $ (0.38)
Diluted income (loss) per share (Note 16) $ 4.21 $ (0.38)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS (DEFICIT)

Year ended December 31, (CDN$ Thousands)  2010   2009

Retained earnings (deficit), beginning of year $ (265,402) $ (54,702)
Net income (loss)  1,477,443  (75,652)
Dividends paid  (1,332,299)  -
Refundable portion of current income tax  135,048  (135,048)
Retained earnings (deficit), end of year $ 14,790 $ (265,402)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Year ended December 31,  (CDN$ Thousands)  2010   2009

OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
 Net income (loss) $ 1,477,443 $ (75,652)
 Items not affecting cash    
  Stock-based compensation (Note 13)  12,140  5,410
  Future income tax expense (recovery) (Note 9)  143,286  (108,152)
  Changes to long-term deferred charges  10  10
  Amortization of deferred borrowing costs   876  12,761
  Depreciation and accretion  1,120  418
  Equity loss on investments (Note 4)  3,956  -
  Gain on sale of assets (Note 3)  (1,645,172)  -
    (6,341)  (165,205)
 Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 17)  707  123,980
    (5,634)  (41,225)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
 Proceeds from share equity instrument issuances (Note 12)  1,397,005  8,969
 Dividends paid   (1,332,299)  -
 Repayment of senior secured notes (Note 7)  (400,000)  -
 Proceeds from long-term debt (Note 7)  449,736  -
 Decrease in cash held in trust  -  26,000
 Changes to long-term deferred charges  943  (943)
 Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 17)  (135,742)  (15)
    (20,357)  34,011
INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
 Net proceeds from sale of assets (Note 3)  1,884,701  -
 Additions to property and equipment  (184,107)  (58,616)
 Additions to investments  (30,178)  -
 Additions to assets held for sale  (1,731)  (53,390)
 (Increase) decrease in short-term investments  (1,310,128)  146,138
 Acquisition of Excelsior Energy (Note 5)  (10,957)  -
 Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 17)  6,903  (3,631)
    354,503  30,501
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  328,512  23,287
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR  140,992  117,705
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 469,504 $ 140,992

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended December 31, 2010

(Tabular amounts in CDN$ thousands, except as otherwise noted) 

Athabasca Oil Sands Corp. (“Athabasca” or the “Company”) was incorporated on August 23, 2006 under the laws governing the Province of 
Alberta. Athabasca is in business to explore for, sustainably develop and produce oil sands related assets in the Athabasca region of northeastern 
Alberta, Canada. The Company is publicly traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “ATH.” To date, Athabasca has not earned 
significant revenues and is considered to be a development stage company.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements reflect the activities of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and 
balances are eliminated upon consolidation. The Company accounts for its investments in the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures as equity 
investments in accordance with the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Accounting Guideline 15 (“AcG-15”), 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” and CICA Handbook section 3051, “Investments.” AcG-15 requires a variable interest entity (“VIE”) 
to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary, which is the party that will absorb the majority of the VIE’s expected losses, receive a majority 
of the VIE’s expected residual returns, or both. A VIE is any type of legal structure not controlled by voting equity, but rather by contractual or 
other financial arrangements. Due to the existence of the put/call options (see Note 10), the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures are VIEs.

Management has made an assessment under AcG-15 and determined that the Company is not the primary beneficiary in the MacKay River 
and Dover joint ventures. The MacKay River and Dover joint ventures are investments in which the Company has significant influence and are 
accounted for as long-term investments using the equity method of accounting whereby the carrying value of the investment is increased or 
decreased for the Company’s percentage of net income or loss, reduced by dividends paid to the Company, and increased or decreased to reflect 
the Company’s share of capital transactions. Refer to Note 4 for additional information.

b) Joint Ventures
A portion of the Company’s oil sand lease acquisition and evaluation activities are conducted jointly with others and the consolidated financial 
statements reflect only the Company’s proportionate interest in such activities.

c) Measurement Uncertainty and Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the applicable reporting period. These estimates relate to 
unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and may differ from actual results as future confirming 
events occur.

Amounts used for impairment calculations are based on estimates of oil sands reserves and resources, future commodity prices and future 
costs required to develop and produce reserves and resources. The fair value calculation of asset retirement obligations (“ARO”) is based upon 
numerous assumptions and judgments including the ultimate settlement amounts, inflation factors, credit-adjusted discount rates, timing of 
settlement and changes in the legal, regulatory, environmental and political environments. The provision for income taxes is based on judgments 
in applying income tax law and estimates on the timing and likelihood of reversal of temporary differences between the accounting and tax 
bases of assets and liabilities. Stock-based compensation is based upon expected volatility, option life estimates and, for the period before the 
Company was publicly traded, share price estimates. The net value of the put/call options cannot be reliably measured given uncertainty around 
receiving regulatory approval for the Dover and MacKay River projects, the timing of any such approval, the projects’ reserves and resources and 
related future cash flow estimates, the likelihood of either party exercising their options and the tax effect of exercise. All of these estimates are 
subject to measurement uncertainty and changes in these estimates could materially impact the financial statements of future periods.

d) Financial Instruments
All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company has classified each financial 
instrument into the following categories: “held-for-trading”; “loans and receivables” and “other financial liabilities”. Subsequent measurement of 
the financial instruments is based on their classification. Unrealized gains and losses on held-for-trading financial instruments are recognized in 
income. The other categories of financial instruments are recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The Company 
has classified its financial instruments as follows:
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Financial Assets and Liabilities    Classification

Cash and cash equivalents    Held-for-trading
Short-term investments    Held-for-trading
Accounts receivable Loans and receivables
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities
Long-term debt Other financial liabilities

Transaction costs for all financial assets and liabilities are expensed as incurred, with the exception of long-term debt. Transaction costs related 
to long-term debt are included in the initial fair value and the instrument is carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

e) Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments
Cash and cash equivalents consist of investments in money market instruments with an initial maturity date of three months or less. Short-term 
investments consist of investments in money market instruments with an initial maturity date of more than three months but a maturity date 
of less than twelve months at the balance sheet date.

f) Property and Equipment
The Company follows the full cost method of accounting. The Company capitalizes costs associated with its resource activities, including 
lease acquisition costs, exploratory drilling to delineate resource plays, geological and geophysical costs, engineering, licensing and 
regulatory fees, carrying charges on non-productive assets and employee salaries and stock-based compensation related to exploration and  
development activities. 

The Company is in the early stages of developing its assets and production has not yet commenced, therefore no depletion or depreciation has 
been recorded with respect to the related capitalized expenditures to date, with the exception of corporate assets. Once commercial production 
begins, capitalized costs will be depleted using the unit-of-production method or depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset if the 
useful life differs from the reserve life.

At each balance sheet date the carrying value of the Company’s unproved resource assets is assessed to determine if there are events or 
circumstances that would indicate impairment. If an impairment indicator exists and the carrying value is deemed unlikely to be recovered when 
compared to the estimated discounted future cash flows, the excess of those costs over the recoverable value of the assets is charged to income. 
The calculation of the estimated discounted future cash flows is based on a number of estimates including, but not limited to, resource volumes, 
production rates, commodity prices, timing of activities, future development costs, and other variables.

Depreciation of corporate assets is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset, ranging from one  
to ten years.

g) Research and Development
The Company engages in research and development activities to develop or improve processes and techniques to extract oil from oil sands 
deposits. Research involves planned investigation with the goal of attaining new knowledge. Development involves translating that knowledge 
into a new technology or process. Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs are capitalized once technical feasibility 
is established and if the Company intends to proceed with development. These costs are capitalized in property and equipment until the 
commencement of commercial operations or production. Otherwise, development costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs include 
pre-operating revenues and costs.

h) Capitalized Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs, including interest and deferred financing charges on fixed term debt, associated with major development projects are 
capitalized until all activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use are complete. These costs will be subsequently depleted or 
depreciated to income with the related assets.
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i) Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company accounts for ARO using the CICA Handbook section 3110, “Asset Retirement Obligations”. The estimated fair value of the 
statutory, contractual or legal liability associated with the retirement and reclamation of tangible long-lived assets is recorded when incurred, 
with a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related assets, when a reasonable estimate of the fair value can be made. The 
increase to capitalized costs is amortized to income on a basis consistent with the depletion or depreciation of the underlying assets. On a 
periodic basis, management will review these estimates and changes, if any, in the estimated fair value of the ARO will be capitalized to property 
and equipment and amortized over the remaining useful life of the underlying asset. The ARO liabilities are carried on the consolidated balance 
sheets at their discounted present value and are accreted over time for the change in their present value, with this accretion charge included in 
depreciation and accretion. Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the accumulated obligation. Any difference between the recorded 
ARO and the actual retirement costs incurred is recorded as a gain or loss in the settlement period. 

j) Revenue Recognition
Interest income is recorded as cash equivalents and short-term investments mature. For outstanding investments that mature in future 
periods, revenue is accrued up to and including the final day of the applicable reporting period based on the terms and conditions of the  
individual instruments.

k) Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method. Under this method, the Company records a future income tax asset or 
liability to reflect any difference between the accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using substantively enacted income tax rates. 
The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period in which the change occurs. Future 
income tax assets are only recognized to the extent it is more likely than not that sufficient future taxable income will be available to allow the 
future income tax asset to be realized.

l) Stock-based Compensation
The Company’s stock-based compensation plans for employees, directors, and consultants consist of stock options and restricted share units. 
Athabasca also has issued and outstanding in trust incentive shares and nominally priced stock options granted under legacy plans. At the 
grant date the Company uses the fair value method to account for securities issued as part of its stock-based compensation plans. The fair 
value is recorded as stock-based compensation using the appropriate estimated amortization period with a corresponding amount reflected in 
contributed surplus. When stock options are exercised, the cash proceeds along with the amount previously recorded as contributed surplus 
are recorded as share capital.

For employees and consultants who are working on specific capital projects, the stock-based compensation is allocated to property and 
equipment. For the remainder of employees, the fair value of the cost is expensed.

m) Flow-through Shares
The Company’s capital structure includes flow-through shares issued pursuant to certain provisions of the Canadian Income Tax Act (the “Act”). 
The Act provides that when share issuance proceeds are used for qualifying exploration and development expenditures, the associated income 
tax resource deductions may be renounced to flow-through share subscribers. A future income tax liability is recorded and share capital is 
reduced by the tax effect of the related expenditures when the renouncement tax return is submitted to the Canadian tax authorities.

n) Per Share Amounts
Basic income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted income (loss) per share reflects the potential dilution that would occur if dilutive securities were exercised or released 
from trust. The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive effect of its dilutive instruments. The treasury stock method 
assumes that proceeds received from the exercise of “in-the-money” equity instruments are used to repurchase common shares. In any period in 
which there is a loss, per share amounts are calculated excluding potentially dilutive securities. Shares held in trust and contingently returnable 
to the Company have been excluded from basic income (loss) per share and included as dilutive (anti-dilutive) securities.

o) Future Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2009, the CICA issued a new accounting standard, section 1582, “Business Combinations”, which prospectively establishes principles 
and requirements of the acquisition method for business combinations and related disclosures that will be effective for the Company’s 2011 
reporting. These standards are effective for business combinations occurring after January 1, 2011, although early adoption is permitted. The 
Company will adopt the new standard in 2011 with the adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The adoption of these 
recommendations is not expected to have a material impact on the Company.
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In January 2009, the CICA issued new accounting standards, section 1601, “Consolidated Financial Statements”, and section 1602,  
“Non-controlling Interests”, which together replace section 1600, “Consolidated Financial Statements”. These standards are effective on or after 
the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with earlier application permitted. The Company will 
adopt these new standards in 2011 with the adoption of IFRS. Section 1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements. Section 1602 provides guidance on accounting for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary subsequent to a business combination. 
Had the Company adopted these sections early, the investments in the Dover and MacKay River joint ventures described in Note 4 would have 
been revalued to their fair value of over $1.2 billion on the close of the PetroChina Transaction (Note 3). There would also have been an increase 
in the future income tax liability of $0.2 billion with both changes recognized in the consolidated statement of income (loss).

2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

     Term  Interest Rate    
     (Days)  (%)  Amount

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2010        
 Cash      1.00 - 1.24 $ 243,504
 Cash Equivalents    62 - 90  1.41 - 1.47  226,000
         469,504
 Short-Term Investments    91 - 367  0.73 - 1.71  1,334,028
 Total       $ 1,803,532

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2009    
 Cash      0.25 - 0.40 $ 140,992
 Total       $ 140,992

3. SALE OF ASSETS TO PETROCHINA INTERNATIONAL 
On August 28, 2009, the Company entered into the Principles of Joint Venture Agreement with PetroChina International Investment Company 
Limited (“PetroChina International”), a wholly owned subsidiary of PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”). On February 10, 2010, the 
Company entered into a series of agreements (the “PetroChina Transaction Agreements”) pursuant to which, among other things, for $1.90 
billion a wholly owned subsidiary of PetroChina International (“PetroChina International Subco”) acquired 100% of the shares of 1487645 
Alberta Ltd. (“AOSC Newco”), a corporation which held a 60% working interest in the Company’s MacKay River and Dover oil sands projects 
(the “PetroChina Transaction”). The Company recorded a $1.65 billion gain as a result of the PetroChina Transaction. PetroChina International 
Subco reimbursed the Company for 60% of the expenditures incurred in respect of the oil sands assets of AOSC Newco during the period 
commencing November 1, 2009 and ending on February 10, 2010, the closing date of the PetroChina Transaction. 

The PetroChina Transaction also included three loan agreements outlined in Note 7 and put/call options over the remaining 40% working 
interest in the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures outlined in Note 10(c).

The assets and liabilities related to AOSC Newco were reclassified as assets or liabilities held for sale on the consolidated balance sheet as at 
December 31, 2009. There is no effect on the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) and consolidated 
statements of retained earnings (deficit) related to these assets held for sale. 

The assets and liabilities of assets held for sale presented on the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 include the following:

As at December 31,     2009

CURRENT ASSETS    
 Property and equipment   $ 238,009
 Future income taxes (Note 9)    149,152
ASSETS HELD FOR SALE   $ 387,161
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4. INVESTMENTS 
The PetroChina Transaction Agreements included joint venture agreements for the MacKay River and Dover oil sands projects. The Company 
has a 40% interest in the MacKay River joint venture (“MacKay River”) through its 100% wholly owned subsidiary, AOSC (MacKay) Energy 
Inc. (“AOSC (MacKay)”) and a 40% interest in the Dover joint venture (“Dover”) through its 100% wholly owned subsidiary, AOSC (Dover) 
Energy Inc. (“AOSC (Dover)”). 

The Company has recorded its share of net loss as a decrease to the Company’s net income and as a decrease to the carrying cost of its 
investments in MacKay River and Dover. 

Equity Method Investment Continuity

    MacKay River  Dover  Total

Cash   $  93 $  36 $  129
Resource assets        
 Mineral properties    24,277  50,038  74,315
 Exploration and evaluation    23,626  46,543  70,169
 Engineering and development    9,143  5,952  15,095
Asset retirement obligations    (304)  (202)  (506)
Future income tax liabilities    (6,969)  (14,359)  (21,328)
TOTAL INITIAL COST OF THE INVESTMENT   $ 49,866 $ 88,008 $ 137,874

         
Contributions   $ 9,299 $ 16,945 $ 26,244
Capitalized interest    1,794  2,158  3,952
Stock based compensation    1,239  1,694  2,933
Share of net loss    (1,058)  (2,898)  (3,956)
     11,274  17,899  29,173
TOTAL INVESTMENTS   $ 61,140 $ 105,907  167,047

5. ACQUISITION OF EXCELSIOR ENERGY
On November 9, 2010, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Excelsior Energy Ltd. (“Excelsior Energy”), a 
public company with oil sands assets in the Hangingstone area, by way of a plan of arrangement for total cash and equity consideration of  
$133.2 million. The value of the warrants issued was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with assumptions similar to those 
used to determine the fair value of stock-based compensation. The purchase price has been allocated based on the fair value of assets and 
liabilities of Excelsior Energy as follows:

CONSIDERATION PAID  

 Cash   $ 11,237
 Warrants(1)     14,182
 Common shares(2)    106,494
 Transaction costs    1,323
TOTAL CONSIDERATION PAID   $ 133,236

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACQUIRED    
 Cash   $ 1,603
 Short-term investments    23,900
 Other net working capital    112
 Property and equipment    127,638
 Flow-through share commitment    (2,005)
 Future income tax liability    (18,012)
NET ASSETS ACQUIRED   $ (133,236)

(1)  2,821,862 warrants with an exercise price of $8.65 per warrant and 713,493 warrants with an exercise price of $9.22 per warrant, valued at $4.08 and $3.75 per warrant, 
respectively.

(2)  9,284,528 common shares valued at $11.47 per share, Athabasca’s quoted market price on the closing date.
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6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

      Accumulated  Net Book 
     Cost  Depreciation  Value

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2010        
RESOURCE ASSETS      
 Mineral properties   $ 420,214 $ - $ 420,214
 Exploration and evaluation    131,558  -  131,558
	 Engineering and development    21,867  -  21,867
     573,639  -  573,639
CORPORATE ASSETS    2,870  (1,488)  1,382
TOTAL   $ 576,509 $ (1,488) $ 575,021

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2009        
RESOURCE ASSETS        
 Mineral properties   $ 217,079 $ - $ 217,079
 Exploration and evaluation    124,144  -  124,144
 Engineering and development    20,499  -  20,499
     361,722  -  361,722
CORPORATE ASSETS    2,113  (595)  1,518
TOTAL   $ 363,835 $ (595) $ 363,240

The cost of the resource assets is not being depleted or depreciated as the properties have not been fully developed and there is no commercial 
production associated with these assets. All corporate assets are currently being depreciated.

The Company has capitalized the following amounts to property and equipment directly attributable to exploration and development activity:

Year ended December 31,   2010  2009

Borrowing costs $ 6,152 $ 12,856
Stock-based compensation (including future income tax effect)  4,377  4,579
TOTAL $ 10,529 $ 17,435

In 2010, the Company closed certain transactions to acquire resource assets in northern Alberta for total consideration of $60.9 million in cash,  
$24.6 million in equity and the assumption of $23.6 million of asset retirement obligations. The equity was valued using Athabasca’s quoted market price 
on the closing date.

7. LONG-TERM DEBT 

As at December 31,  2010  2009

Senior secured notes - face value (a) $ - $ 400,000
Long-term non-revolving credit agreement #1 (b)  430,000  -
Long-term non-revolving credit agreement #2 (c)  19,736  -
Deferred borrowing costs  -  (24,391)
Amortization of deferred borrowing costs  -  23,387
TOTAL $ 449,736 $ 398,996

a) Senior Secured Notes
On July 30, 2008, the Company issued $400.0 million of senior secured notes with a term of three years, maturing July 30, 2011. The senior 
secured notes bore interest of 13% paid semi-annually on December 31 and June 30. During the first quarter of 2010 Athabasca redeemed its 
senior secured notes with the proceeds received from the long-term non-revolving credit agreement #1 discussed below. For the year ended 
December 31, 2010 the Company amortized $1.0 million (2009 - $20.1 million) of deferred borrowing costs on the senior secured notes.

b) Long-term Non-revolving Credit Agreement #1 (PetroChina Loan #1)
During the first quarter of 2010, Athabasca entered into a non-revolving credit agreement of $430.0 million. The credit agreement bears interest 
which is paid semi-annually at a rate equal to LIBOR plus 450 basis points. The loan matures on the earlier of June 30, 2022, a change of control 
of the Company or the date any of the put/call options (Note 10) are exercised. Before maturity, the loan will be repaid as to principal on a  
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pro rata basis with indebtedness under PetroChina Loan #2 and PetroChina Loan #3 from 90% of cash flow (as provided in the PetroChina loan 
agreements) of AOSC (MacKay) and AOSC (Dover). The credit agreement is secured by guarantees from the Company’s material subsidiaries 
and a security interest in all of the present and after-acquired assets of the Company and its material subsidiaries. 

c) Long-term Non-revolving Credit Agreement #2 (PetroChina Loan #2)
During 2010 Athabasca drew $19.7 million on a secondary long-term non-revolving credit agreement of up to $100.0 million. The credit 
agreement bears interest which is paid semi-annually at a rate equal to LIBOR plus 450 basis points. The loan matures on the earlier of June 
30, 2024, a change of control of the Company or the date any of the put/call options are exercised. Before maturity, the loan will be repaid as 
to principal on a pro rata basis with indebtedness under PetroChina Loan #1 and PetroChina Loan #3 from 90% of cash flow (as provided in the 
PetroChina loan agreements) of the MacKay River and Dover entities. The credit agreement is secured by guarantees of the MacKay River and 
Dover entities and their respective subsidiaries and by a security interest in all of the present and after-acquired assets of the MacKay River and 
Dover entities and their respective subsidiaries.

d) Long-Term Non-revolving Credit Agreement #3 (PetroChina Loan #3)
If the put/call options (Note 10) are not exercised and expire, and the MacKay River oil sands project approval has been obtained, the Company 
will have access to an additional long-term non-revolving credit agreement of up to $560 million. The credit agreement will bear interest which 
is paid semi-annually at a rate equal to LIBOR plus 450 basis points. The loan will mature on the earlier of June 30, 2024 or a change of control 
of the Company. Before maturity, the loan will be repaid as to principal on a pro rata basis with indebtedness under PetroChina Loan #1 and 
PetroChina Loan #2 from 90% of cash flow (as provided in the PetroChina loan agreements) of the MacKay River and Dover entities. The credit 
agreement is secured by guarantees of the MacKay River and Dover entities and their respective subsidiaries and by a security interest in all of 
the present and after-acquired assets of the MacKay River and Dover entities and their respective subsidiaries.

8. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 
The total future ARO are estimated by management based on the Company’s ownership interest in all wells and facilities, estimated costs to 
reclaim and abandon the wells and facilities, and the estimated timing of the costs to be incurred in future periods. The Company has calculated 
the net present value of its ARO using an inflation rate of 2% and a credit-adjusted risk free discount rate of 7.5% per annum. The payments to 
settle these obligations are expected to occur during a period of up to 15 years. The total undiscounted amount of estimated cash flows required 
to settle the obligations as at December 31, 2010 is $71.2 million (2009 – $0.8 million). The significant addition in ARO during the year is for 
infrastructure and shut in gas wells acquired in the Dover West area (Note 6). The following table reconciles the change in ARO: 

As at December 31,  2010  2009

ARO liability, beginning of year $ 506 $ -
Disposed  (506)  -
Liabilities incurred  489  459
Liabilities acquired  23,645  -
Accretion expense  227  47
ARO LIABILITY, END OF YEAR $ 24,361 $ 506

9. INCOME TAXES

As at December 31,  2010  2009

FUTURE INCOME TAX ASSETS    
 Non-capital losses $ 24,942 $ -
 Share issuance costs  20,240  1,345
 Debt issuance costs  5,573  7,500
 Other  405  159
 Assets held for sale (note 3)  -  149,152
FUTURE INCOME TAX LIABILITIES    
 Capital assets in excess of tax values  (69,488)  (63,606)
 Equity investments in excess of tax values  (17,108)  -     
NET FUTURE INCOME TAX ASSET (LIABILITY) $ (35,436) $ 94,550
PRESENTED AS    
 Assets held for sale $ - $ 149,152
 Current future income tax asset $ 3,879 $ -
 Future income tax liability $ (39,315) $ (54,602)
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The following table reconciles expected income tax expense (recovery) calculated at the Canadian statutory rate of 28% (2009 - 29%) to 
actual income tax expense (recovery):

Year ended December 31,   2010  2009

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES $ 1,610,295 $ (92,658)
EXPECTED INCOME TAX EXPENSE (RECOVERY)    
 Income tax expense (recovery) at statutory rate  450,883  (26,871)
ADJUSTMENTS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING:    
 Stock-based compensation  3,399  1,569
 Non-taxable portion of (gain) loss on sale  (230,324)  2,290
 Effects of tax rate changes and timing of use   (93,293)  5,724
 Other  (1,769)  282
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (RECOVERY) $ 128,896 $ (17,006)

As at December 31, 2010, Athabasca had approximately $527.3 million of consolidated tax pools available for deduction against future taxable 
income, including $150.2 million in non-capital losses which mostly expire after 2025. 

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The Company’s consolidated financial assets and liabilities are comprised of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts 
receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt.

a) Fair Value 
The carrying values of Athabasca’s financial instruments approximate their fair value due to their short term or variable interest nature. As 
at December 31, 2010 no financial assets or liabilities were measured at fair value aside from cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
investments. The Company classifies its financial instruments measured at fair value according to the following hierarchy based on the amount 
of observable inputs used to value the instrument.

• Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments have been assessed on the fair value hierarchy described above and have 
been classified as Level 1. Assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect 
the placement level within the fair value hierarchy. 

b) Risks Associated with Financial Assets and Liabilities
Credit Risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and accounts 
receivable on the consolidated balance sheets. 

As at December 31, 2010, 71% of the Company’s consolidated accounts receivable balance is related to accrued interest on cash equivalents 
and short-term investments which are invested with large reputable Canadian regulated financial institutions. This is compared to December 
31, 2009, where 56% of consolidated accounts receivable was due from two non-financial counterparties. The amounts outstanding are 
considered current based on the terms of the investments. Management believes the remaining 29% of accounts receivable is with high quality 
counterparties and does not consider any material amount past due based on the terms with the counterparties.

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments held by the Company are invested with counterparties meeting credit quality 
requirements and issuer and concentration limits pursuant to an investment policy that is periodically reviewed by the Audit Committee. The 
policy emphasizes security of assets over investment yield. At December 31, 2010, the Company held investments in bankers’ depository notes, 
term deposits and bankers’ acceptances with large reputable Canadian financial institutions as well as Government of Canada treasury bills. 
Therefore, the Company’s management believes that credit risk associated with these investments is low.
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Liquidity Risk 
The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient available reserves to meet its liquidity requirements at any point. The 
Company achieves this by managing its capital spending and maintaining sufficient funds in cash and cash equivalent accounts.

Management believes the Company’s remaining working capital is sufficient to fund the Company’s expenditures into 2014 based on current 
plans. Excess cash will be invested in accordance with the Company’s investment policy.

The Company’s outstanding financial liabilities mature within one year, with the exception of the Company’s loans with PetroChina. 

The Company is required to repay PetroChina Loans #1 and #2 in full on the earlier of June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2024, respectively, or a change 
of control of the Company or the date any of the put/call options are exercised by either the Company or PetroChina International Subco. If the 
put/call options are not exercised, the loans will be repaid on a pro rata basis with indebtedness under the remaining PetroChina Loans from 
90% of cash flow (as provided in the PetroChina loan agreements) of the MacKay River and Dover entities.

Interest Rate Risk 
The Company’s exposure at December 31, 2010 to interest charged on the outstanding PetroChina Loan balances, from a 1% change in interest 
rates, would be approximately $4.5 million for a twelve month period. The Company’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations on interest earned on 
the ending cash and variable rate short-term investment balance of $478.4 million, from a 1% change in interest rates, would be approximately 
$4.8 million for a twelve month period. For the year ended December 31, 2010, Athabasca’s effective interest rate on PetroChina Loans #1 and 
#2 was 5.2%.

c) Put/Call Options Related to MacKay River and Dover (See Note 3) 
Detailed below are put/call options over the Company’s remaining 40% interest in Dover and MacKay River that were included as part of the 
PetroChina Transaction (the “Put/Call Options”). Management of the Company has conducted a review of the value of each put/call option 
listed below and has determined that the net value of the Put/Call Options at the inception of the contract was nil. Additionally, the contracts 
will not be re-measured at each reporting date due to the numerous variables that may not be reliably measured when computing the value of 
the Put/Call Options. If any of the Put/Call Options are exercised, the proceeds must be used to repay any amounts outstanding under the loan 
agreements.

MacKay River Put Option
PetroChina International Subco has granted to the Company the right, exercisable at the Company’s option within 30 days following receipt 
of MacKay River oil sands project approval, to require PetroChina International Subco to acquire the shares or assets of AOSC (MacKay) for 
a purchase price of $680.0 million if exercised in 2011 or 2012, $646.0 million if exercised in 2013, $612.0 million if exercised in 2014 and a  
0.9 multiple of the fair market value of the assets or shares, as applicable, if exercised after 2014. 

Dover Put Option
PetroChina International Subco has granted to the Company the right, exercisable at the Company’s option within 30 days following receipt 
of Dover oil sands project approval, if the MacKay River put/call option is exercised, to require PetroChina International Subco to acquire the 
shares or assets of AOSC (Dover) for a purchase price of $1.32 billion if exercised in 2011 or 2012, $1.25 billion if exercised in 2013, $1.19 billion 
if exercised in 2014 and a 0.9 multiple of the fair market value of the assets or shares, as applicable, if exercised after 2014.

MacKay River Call Options
The Company has granted to PetroChina International Subco the right, exercisable at PetroChina International Subco’s option, to acquire the 
shares of AOSC (MacKay) in the following circumstances, for the applicable purchase price:

(a) within 30 days following receipt of MacKay River oil sands project approval, for a purchase price of $680.0 million if exercised in 2011 or 
2012, $646.0 million if exercised in 2013, $612.0 million if exercised in 2014 and a 0.9 multiple of the fair market value of the shares of 
AOSC ( MacKay) if exercised after 2014;

(b) within four business days following December 31 in any calendar year commencing 2012 and provided the MacKay River oil sands project 
approval has not occurred prior thereto, for a purchase price of $680.0 million if exercised in 2013, $612.0 million if exercised in 2014, 
$544.0 million if exercised in 2015 and a 0.8 multiple of the fair market value of the shares of AOSC (MacKay) if exercised after 2015; and

(c) within 60 days following the receipt of notice of the occurrence of an insolvency event or change of control of the Company or AOSC 
(MacKay) or AOSC (Dover), for a purchase price of $680.0 million.
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Dover Call Options
Except as set forth below, provided that the MacKay River put/call option has been exercised, the Company has granted to PetroChina 
International Subco the right, exercisable at PetroChina International Subco’s option, to acquire the shares of AOSC (Dover) in the following 
circumstances, for the applicable purchase price:

(a) within 30 days following receipt of Dover oil sands project approval, for a purchase price of $1.32 billion if exercised in 2011 or 2012,  
$1.25 billion if exercised in 2013, $1.19 billion if exercised in 2014 and a 0.9 multiple of the fair market value of the shares of AOSC (Dover) 
if exercised after 2014;

(b) within four business days following December 31 in any calendar year commencing 2012 and provided the MacKay River oil sands project 
approval has not occurred prior thereto (and, except for the option exercisable following December 31, 2012, concurrently with the exercise 
of the corresponding MacKay call option by PetroChina International Subco), for a purchase price of $1.32 billion if exercised in 2013, $1.19 
billion if exercised in 2014, $1.06 billion if exercised in 2015, and a 0.8 multiple of the fair market value of the shares of AOSC (Dover) if 
exercised after 2015; and

(c) within 60 days following receipt of notice of the occurrence of an insolvency event or change of control of the Company or AOSC (MacKay) 
or AOSC (Dover), for a purchase price of $1.32 billion.

11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to pursue the acquisition, exploration and development 
of its resource properties or potential other business and to maintain a flexible capital structure to undertake projects for the benefit of its 
stakeholders. The Company considers the items included in shareholders’ equity and long-term debt as capital. The Company is currently in 
the development stage and earns no operating revenue; as such the Company is dependent on existing working capital and external financing 
to fund its activities. 

Capital managed by the Company was as follows:

As at December 31,  2010  2009

Senior secured notes $ - $ 398,996
PetroChina Loan #1  430,000  -
PetroChina Loan #2  19,736  -
Shareholders’ equity  2,032,120  172,054
TOTAL CAPITAL MANAGED $ 2,481,856 $ 571,050

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes to economic conditions and risk characteristics of 
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, subject to restrictions in the PetroChina Loan Agreements, the Company may issue 
new shares, acquire or dispose of assets, obtain or repay debt, or enter into joint exploration and development arrangements. 

To facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares annual expenditure budgets that are updated as necessary and 
which are approved by the Board of Directors (the “Board”). Longer term financial models are also utilized to schedule and forecast anticipated 
cash requirements. Excess cash is invested in accordance with an investment policy, which is reviewed periodically, thereby ensuring that cash is 
invested in highly liquid short-term interest-bearing investments, possessing pre-approved risk profiles, and is available as required. There were 
no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended December 31, 2010 other than the issue of the PetroChina 
Loans and associated covenants.

The Company is subject to certain non-financial covenants in the PetroChina Loan Agreements and is in compliance with all such covenants.

12. SHARE CAPITAL
a) Authorized 
The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of first and second 
preferred shares. There are no first or second preferred shares currently outstanding.



AT H A B A S C A  O I L  S A N D S  C O R P.

60  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2010

b) Issued and Outstanding Common Shares 
The following table summarizes changes to the Company’s common share capital:

Year ended December 31,  2010 2009 

   Number of     Number of   
   Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount

Balance at beginning of year  213,976,372 $ 390,377  192,529,661 $ 374,041
Issue of shares on initial public offering  75,000,000  1,281,935  -  -
Issue of shares for Excelsior Energy and asset acquisition  10,865,556  131,063  -  -
Exercise of Excelsior Energy replacement warrants (c)  1,319,279  16,845  -  -
Exercise of purchase warrants (d)  97,274,250  121,593  7,007,000  8,759
Exercise of performance warrants (e)  -  -  10,000,000  100
Liquidity rights/warrants converted to common shares (f)  -  -  3,736,433  1,495
Exercise of stock options (Note 13)  173,500  1,768  2,764,300  5,982
Less common shares granted and held in trust contingently  
 returnable to the Company (Note 13)  -  -  (2,061,022)  -
Released contingently returnable shares (Note 13)  308,984  3,423  -  -
BALANCE AT END OF YEAR  398,917,941 $ 1,947,004  213,976,372 $ 390,377

On April 8, 2010, pursuant to an underwriting agreement and a prospectus, each dated March 30, 2010, the Company completed its initial 
public offering (the “IPO”) and issued 75.0 million common shares to the public for approximately $1.28 billion, net of commissions and other 
costs relating to the issue aggregating approximately $87.5 million and a future tax recovery of $19.4 million.

On November 9, 2010, the Company issued 9.3 million common shares as part of the acquisition of Excelsior Energy, which held a majority 
interest in certain leases in the Hangingstone area (Note 5). On December 20, 2010, the Company issued 1.6 million common shares for the 
remaining minority interest in these leases (Note 6).

On December 20, 2010 Athabasca filed notice to make a Normal Course Issuer Bid (“the Bid”) to purchase, from time to time, up to 10.0 million 
common shares on the open market. No shares have been purchased to date through the Bid.

c) Excelsior Energy Replacement Warrants
Pursuant to the Excelsior Energy acquisition outlined in Note 5, the Company issued a total of 3.5 million Athabasca purchase warrants,  
2.8 million with an exercise price of $8.65 and 0.7 million with an exercise price of $9.22. These purchase warrants replaced 81.3 million 
Excelsior Energy purchase warrants with an exercise price of $0.30 and 20.6 million Excelsior Energy purchase warrants with an exercise price 
of $0.32. The Excelsior Energy replacement warrants are exercisable and expire on November 9, 2012. The following table summarizes the 
changes to the Company’s Excelsior Energy replacement warrants:

Warrant exercise price $8.65 $9.22 Total 

      Warrants  Amount  Warrants  Amount  Warrants  Amount

Issued in Excelsior Energy acquisition   2,821,862 $ 11,504  713,493 $ 2,678  3,535,355 $ 14,182
Exercised    (1,094,854)  (4,463)  (224,425)  (843)  (1,319,279)  (5,306)
BALANCE AT END OF YEAR     1,727,008 $ 7,041  489,068 $ 1,835  2,216,076  $ 8,876

d) Purchase Warrants 
The Company reserved 112.0 million common shares for issuance upon exercise of certain issued and outstanding purchase warrants, each 
whole purchase warrant exercisable at a price of $1.25 per share on or before five years from the date of issuance. The following table summarizes 
changes to the Company’s purchase warrants:

Year ended December 31,  2010  2009

Balance at beginning of year  97,274,250  104,281,250
Exercised  (97,274,250)  (7,007,000)
BALANCE AT END OF YEAR  -  97,274,250

No value was assigned to these warrants at the time of issuance.
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e) Performance Warrants
Two series of performance warrants were issued as part of the initial capitalization of the Company totaling 19.0 million warrants. 
The performance warrants were exercisable for a period of nine years from the date of issuance and only if certain net asset value 
and liquidity thresholds were achieved. The exercise price was $0.01 per performance warrant. During 2007 all performance 
criteria associated with these performance warrants were achieved and during 2009 all 10.0 million remaining performance 
warrants were exercised. 

f) Liquidity Rights/Warrants
An aggregate of 37.4 million common and flow-through shares were issued during 2007 financings. Each share had either a 
liquidity right or a liquidity warrant attached providing the security holder with a right or warrant to approximately 0.10 additional 
common shares per right or warrant, if the Company did not meet certain liquidity event requirements by February 16, 2009. The 
Company did not meet the liquidity event requirements under the share subscription agreements and accordingly, 3.7 million 
common shares were issued upon conversion of the outstanding liquidity rights and liquidity warrants on February 16, 2009.

g) Contributed Surplus
The following table summarizes changes to the Company’s contributed surplus:

Year ended December 31,  2010  2009

Balance at beginning of year $ 47,079 $ 41,432
Expensed stock-based compensation  12,140  5,410
Capitalized to property and equipment stock-based compensation (1)  3,129  6,109
Equity investee stock-based compensation(2)  2,933  -
Stock options vested and exercised (Note 13)  (3,831)  (5,872)
BALANCE AT END OF YEAR $ 61,450 $ 47,079

(1) Excludes future income tax effect. 2009 includes amounts capitalized to Dover and MacKay River.

(2) Stock-based compensation recognized in investments related to employees seconded to Dover OpCo (Note 15).

13. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 
The Company’s stock-based compensation plans for employees, directors, and consultants consist of incentive shares and options to acquire 
incentive shares, stock options and restricted share units.

a) Incentive Shares, Amended Stock Options and Nominally Priced Stock Options
In 2006 the Company issued to Avenir Capital Corporation (“Avenir”) 20.0 million incentive shares at a price of $0.001 or $0.01 per share 
of which 17.1 million were available for allocation to employees, directors, and consultants. This plan was replaced for future grants with the 
Restricted Share Unit plan. See Note 13(c).

The Company had a stock option plan approved in 2006 which allowed options to be granted to employees, directors and consultants. The 
specific terms were determined by the Board when each specific tranche of options was approved. This option plan was replaced by a new 
option plan in 2009. See Note 13(b).

In 2009, the options issued under the 2006 plan were amended and additional nominally priced stock options were granted. The amendments 
included a reduction of the exercise price to $0.01 per stock option. The amended stock options and nominally priced stock options were 
immediately exercised with the returned shares held in trust subject to the satisfaction of length of service requirements. The length of 
service requirement was amended to a maximum of four years. The agreement amendments resulted in an immediate charge to stock-based 
compensation expense for those securities where the length of service requirements was accelerated. The exercise price change also resulted 
in an immediate charge to stock-based compensation.
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The following table summarizes all shares granted and held in trust under the incentive share, amended stock option and nominally priced stock 
option agreements:

Year ended December 31,  2010  2009

   Number of   Number of 
   common shares  common shares

Balance granted and held in trust at beginning of year  7,719,331  5,957,918
Granted  -  379,000
Forfeited   (63,083)  -
Amended stock options and nominally priced stock options, exercised and held in trust  -  2,061,022
Vested and released  (2,008,662)  (678,609)
BALANCE GRANTED AND HELD IN TRUST AT END OF YEAR  5,647,586  7,719,331

As at December 31, 2010, a total of 5,647,586 common shares were held in trust subject to length of service requirements. Of this amount, 
3,895,548 relate to shares initially issued to Avenir and will be returned to Avenir if the length of service requirement is not met. The remaining 
1,752,038 shares are contingently returnable to the Company and will be cancelled if the length of service requirement is not met. The length of 
service requirements will be met at various times to 2013.

b) Stock Options 
The Company has a stock option plan, approved in 2009, which allows options to be granted to employees, directors and consultants. All 
options issued by the Company permit the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at the stated exercise price or to receive a 
cash payment equal to the appreciated value of the stock option at the sole discretion of the Company. The stock option plan is a rolling plan 
and currently limits the number of common shares that may be issued on exercise of options awarded under the plan to an aggregate of 10% 
of the common shares outstanding from time to time, less the number of common shares issuable under the Restricted Share Unit plan. Under 
the stock option plan options expire after five years from the date of grant. 

   2010 2009

     Weighted    Weighted 
     average    average 
   Number of   exercise  Number of  exercise 
Year ended December 31,  options  price ($)  options  price ($)

Outstanding at beginning of year  705,500  10.01  1,657,000  8.09
Granted – stock options  2,817,800  11.38  1,148,900  7.53
Forfeited  (107,800)  11.42  -  -
Granted – incentive stock options  -  -  663,900  0.01
Exercised stock options  (173,500)  7.84  (703,306)  0.13 
Exercised and held in trust stock options  -  -  (1,397,094)  0.01
Exercised and held in trust nominally priced stock options   -  -  (663,900)  0.01

OUTSTANDING AT END OF YEAR  3,242,000  10.57  705,500  10.01

EXERCISABLE AT END OF YEAR  126,000  7.90  170,500  7.84

The estimated fair value per stock option granted during the year ended December 31, 2010 was $4.36.
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The exercise prices of the Company’s outstanding stock options as at December 31, 2010 are as follows:

 Options outstanding Options exercisable

          Weighted  Weighted    Weighted 
          average  average    average 
Range of       Number of  exercise  years Number of  exercise 
exercise price ($)       options  price ($)  to expiry  options  price ($)

3.95   45,000 3.95 3.73 11,250 3.95
5.95-7.65   397,000 6.20 3.82 72,000 6.24
9.85-10.78   1,040,400 10.36 4.64 11,250 9.85
11.15-11.86   1,450,400 11.39 4.58 - -
12.38-15.31   244,100 12.91 4.87 31,500 12.38
18.00   65,100 18.00 4.24 - -
    3,242,000 10.57 4.51 126,000 7.90

During the first quarter of 2010, the Board approved amendments to the exercise price of 552,000 unvested stock options to reduce the 
exercise price by $4.25, the amount of the special dividend, as required by the adjustment provisions of the stock options. The amendments 
became effective on the effective date of the plan of arrangement pursuant to which the special dividend was paid. There is no charge to  
stock-based compensation expense on the date of amendment because none of the stock options are vested. Stock-based compensation 
expense of approximately $0.7 million will be recognized over the remaining term of the unvested stock options.

c) Restricted Share Units (RSUs)
During the first quarter of 2010, the Company established a RSU stock-based compensation plan. Under the terms of the RSU plan, the Company 
may grant RSUs to employees, directors, and consultants. All RSU’s issued by the Company permit the holder to purchase one common share of 
the Company for $0.10 or to receive a cash payment equal to the fair market value of the common shares less the exercise price of the RSU at the 
sole discretion of the Company. The RSU plan is a rolling plan and currently limits the number of common shares that may be issued on exercise 
of RSUs awarded under the plan to an aggregate of 10% of the common shares outstanding from time to time, less the number of common 
shares issuable under the stock option plan. The life and vesting terms of the RSU plan are consistent with the Company’s stock option plan.

Year ended December 31,    2010

Restricted share units outstanding at beginning of year    -
Granted    745,300
Forfeited    (36,900)
RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS OUTSTANDING AT END OF YEAR    708,400

As at December 31, 2010, 17,000 of the outstanding RSUs are exercisable. The average estimated fair value per RSU granted during the year 
ended December 31, 2010 was $11.49.

d) Fair Value Assumptions for Stock-based Compensation 
The Company uses the Black-Scholes pricing model to calculate the fair value for grants under its stock-based compensation plans. Estimated 
fair values during 2010 were calculated using the following assumptions:

  Stock-based   Stock options 
  compensation &  incremental 
  RSU grants  fair value

Share price ($)  10.09 - 18.00  18.00
Risk-free interest rate (%)  1.53 - 2.89  2.26
Expected life (years)  3.0 - 4.5  4.5 - 4.9
Dividend rate (%)  0  0
Volatility (%)  40 - 85  85

Prior to April 2010, the Company was private and no observable market existed for the Company’s shares. Prior to finalizing the Company’s 
IPO share price, the share price used in fair value calculations was estimated based on prior private equity issuances or grey market trading 
information. After establishing the IPO price, this amount was used for stock-based compensation fair value calculations. Since the Company’s 
shares began trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the current trading price on the date of grant has been used.
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e) Incentive Bonus Plan 
A cash incentive bonus plan was approved by the Board in 2008. The plan provides for a cash payment of $4.50 per outstanding option to 
specified holders of stock options upon exercise, subject to being preceded by a specified change of control or an IPO. All outstanding stock 
options with bonus rights were exercised prior to the IPO. Accordingly, there is no potential liability related to the incentive bonus plan.

14. COMMITMENTS 
The following table summarizes Athabasca’s commitments as at December 31, 2010 and Athabasca’s estimated future minimum commitments 
as at December 31 for the following five years and thereafter as follows: 

  2011  2012  2013  2014  2015  Thereafter  Total

Debt repayment (Note 7) (1)  $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 449,736 $ 449,736
Interest payments  
 on debt (Note 7) (2)   25,779  25,779  25,779  25,779  25,779  169,825  298,720
Office leases   2,476  2,448  1,112  480  480  440  7,436
Purchase commitments   7,490  -  -  -  -  -  7,490
Equity investee commitments (3)   925  338  113  -  -  -  1,376
Other   700  533  200  -  -  -  1,433
TOTAL COMMITMENTS  $ 37,370 $ 29,098 $ 27,204 $ 26,259 $ 26,259 $ 620,001 $ 766,191

(1)  Assumes the PetroChina Transaction Put/Call Option Agreements are not exercised.

(2)  Based on interest rate effective and balance outstanding on December 31, 2010.

(3)  Represents Athabasca’s 40% share of commitments entered into by Dover OpCo (Note 15).

Athabasca is responsible for the retirement of its resource assets at the end of their useful lives, see Note 8 for further details.

As part of the Excelsior Energy acquisition (Note 5), Athabasca acquired a commitment to expend $8.0 million on qualifying flow-through 
expenditures and to renounce those expenditures to Excelsior Energy investors by December 31, 2011. Qualifying expenditures were incurred 
and renounced in early 2011. 

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
As part of the PetroChina Transaction (Note 3), Dover Operating Corp. (“Dover OpCo”) was created to operate the MacKay River and Dover 
joint ventures. Pursuant to an agreement with Dover OpCo, Athabasca was the temporary operator of the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures 
from February 10, 2010, the closing date of the PetroChina Transaction Agreements, to May 31, 2010. For the year ended December 31, 2010, 
Athabasca charged Dover OpCo $1.2 million for operating the MacKay River and Dover joint ventures and recorded the charges as a reduction in 
general and administrative expenses. In addition, Athabasca has seconded staff to Dover OpCo under the PetroChina Transaction Agreements 
and some members of Athabasca’s staff are utilized by Dover OpCo under a shared services agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2010 
Athabasca charged Dover OpCo $3.6 million to recover the costs of these seconded and shared service staff. These transactions were in the 
normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount. The charges are recorded as a reduction in general and administrative 
expense. As at December 31, 2010, accounts receivable included $0.2 million owing from Dover OpCo for staff discussed above. 

A director of the Company is a principal with an energy investment firm. During 2010, Athabasca paid $5.0 million to this firm comprising  
$3.3 million in underwriting fees for the IPO, $1.0 million in advisory costs relating to the PetroChina Transaction (Note 3) and $0.7 million 
in advisory costs relating to the Excelsior Energy acquisition (Note 5). These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were 
measured at the exchange amount. No amounts were owing to the energy investment firm at the end of the year.
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16. PER SHARE COMPUTATIONS

Year Ended December 31,   2010  2009

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic  348,586,748  199,957,688
Dilutive effect of stock options and RSUs  180,376  -
Dilutive effect of contingently returnable shares   1,752,038  -
Dilutive effect of purchase and performance warrants  96,918  -
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted  350,616,080  199,957,688

Per share amounts are calculated excluding dilutive securities during periods in which there is a loss. Dilutive securities will have a dilutive effect 
under the treasury stock method only when the average market price of the common shares during the period exceeds the sum of the exercise 
price of the securities and unamortized stock-based compensation. For the year ended December 31, 2010, there was an average of 1,305,850 
anti-dilutive securities excluded from the calculation of diluted income per share (99,940,744 anti-dilutive securities at December 31, 2009).

17. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Net Change in Non-cash Working Capital

Year Ended December 31,  2010  2009

Accounts receivable $ (6,355) $ 3,334
Prepaid expenses and other  800  262
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (22,055)  25,592
   $ (27,610) $ 29,188
NET CURRENT INCOME TAXES RECEIVABLE    
 Current income taxes payable  (226,194)  226,194
 Recoverable portion of current income taxes  135,048  (135,048)
 Current income taxes receivable  (9,376)  -
   $ (100,522) $ 91,146
  $ (128,132) $ 120,334

RELATED TO:    
 Operating activities  707  123,980
 Financing activities  (135,742)  (15)
 Investing activities  6,903  (3,631)
NET CHANGE IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL $ (128,132) $ 120,334

Other Cash Flow Information

Year ended December 31,   2010  2009

Cash taxes paid net of refunds received $ 86,144 $ -
Cash interest paid $ 30,581 $ 52,000
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